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1 Dongguan Lee & Man 2 Jiangsu Lee & Man

REEX TTRRE X

Annual 590,000 tons of paper Annual 1.12 million tons of paper
production production

capacity: capacity:
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3 Guangdong Lee & Man Chongqing Lee & Man

BRE X EFEX
L Annual 900,000 tons of paper,
Annual 2.30 million tons of paper and :
production 110,000 tons of tissue paper produ_ctl'on g;g'ggg s 0; p_ulp and
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5 Jiangxi Lee & Man 6 Vietnam Lee & Man

THAHEX U X

Annual 720,000 tons of paper, Annual 550,000 tons of paper/
production 300,000 tons of pulp and production  products

capacity: 310,000 tons of tissue paper capacity:
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FER 1408 BiAR K2 40 B WA SR AR

BERAR AR 2023 F£1]



CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gam Gas Jp
(retired on 9 May 2023)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Peter A. Davies (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp
(appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (appointed on 2 August 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Peter A. Davies (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 8ss Jp
(appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (appointed on 2 August 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Peter A. Davies (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp
(appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (appointed on 2 August 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Peter A. Davies (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp
(appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (appointed on 2 August 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas jp
Ms. Law Kit Yu

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Law Kit Yu

B
HITES

BB tTwgnes xFmtr(EE)
TR Esens cro+(BENTE)
Tk g

T e

EmHHLE

FHITES

BERABBE A BE 28
(FA2023F5 A9HERIK

BYFHITES

FRRE 54 (FA20234E8 A2 A BHT)

Peter A. Davies#t 4 (74202348 A2 B & L)

EES

BT T smes xFu+
(FA2023F8A2HEE)

PREC 4 (20238 A2H &)

EREES

BERKRLEE(ERE)

FRRE 54 (FA20234E8 A2 A BHT)

Peter A. Davies#t 4 (74202348 A2 B & L)

BT T ogemes AFmst
(FA2023%F8A2HEE)

BRE{ 54 (FA20234E8 A2 A ET)

yEES

BAR A (EE)

FRIE %4 (202368 A28 & T)

Peter A. Davies st 4 (74202348 A2 HEH L)

BT L T tasmes «Fmt
(FA202358A2HZEE)

PRE{ %4 (202358 A2H &)

REZEEE

BB tTrengs cFmt+(FE)
AR A&

FRIE %4 (202368 A28 & T)
Peter A. Davies st 4 (74202348 A2 HEHT)
BT L T iismes «xFmt

HEE AF#t
)

(FA2023F8A2HEE)
PRE{ %4 (FA202358A2H &)
RERR
TN BT rsnes «Fmt
BN+
NEME
BRI+

4 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report




CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNREEHR (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE FMMEE

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE BMER

39/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center B

169 Electric Road it A

North Point BERIE 16958

Hong Kong B FER 39

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFRET

In Hong Kong and Macau: EBRRM

Hang Seng Bank 1B RTT

Standard Chartered Bank BITERTT

HSBC JEZIRTT

Bank of China (Hong Kong) RERIRIT(EE)

In the PRC: hE

China Construction Bank R R IR T

Bank of China IR TT

AUDITOR = E A

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =g e EM A RTANTT

Certified Public Accountants MBS AN

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor AR 2 & 8% BAD

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TERMDBFERE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D, Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D,

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court, Camana Bay, P.0.Box 1586, Gardenia Court, Camana Bay,

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100, Grand Cayman, KY1-1100,

Cayman Islands Caymanslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EBRNDBEFERLDTE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited BEBLFERARAR

17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre 5

16 Harcourt Road ERE16%

Hong Kong RESEFPON7E

WEBSITE b

http://Awww.leemanpaper.com http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT THT
RESULTS £
Revenue A 27,144,210 25,867,966 32,511,417 29,170,402 24,937,083
Profit before tax BT BT 4,020,195 4,321,472 3,794,283 1,458,721 1,412,359
Income tax expense FIGHI A (719,930) (668,960) (542,523) (141,531) (258,396)
Profit for the year EEEF 3,300,265 3,652,512 3,251,760 1,317,190 1,153,963
At 31 December
W12A318
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET BT THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERAR
Total assets BEE 43,497,407 46,800,491 52,453,843 50,325,685 54,097,321
Total liabilities FEE=N (17,414,787)  (16,050,076)  (19,050,845)  (21,718,791) I PAFeEJeiE))
Net assets EEFE 26,082,620 30,750,415 33,402,998 28,606,894 28,766,962

BGERER AR 2023 F£3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In 2023, the economy in China gradually returned to a recovery path
as the government relaxed the pandemic prevention and control
measures. Although the paper manufacturing industry as a whole
performed below expectations owing to the combined effect of a
weak downstream demand and a surge in newly added production
capacity, the market recovery is gathering pace during the second
half of the year. On the other hand, the Group has been actively
pursuing a vertical business model and its newly added pulp-making
capacity has also gradually been put into operation. As a result, the
Group's performance in the second half of the year showed a
significant improvement compared to the first half.

For 2023, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$24.9 billion,
representing a decrease of 14.5% from that of the previous year,
while the profit for the year decreased by 12.4% to HK$1.2 billion as
compared with that for the previous year. The earnings per share for
the year were HK24.39 cents (2022: HK27.46 cents).

The board of directors has proposed a final dividend of HK6.1 cents
per share for 2023 (2022: HK3.3 cents). The aggregate sales of the
Group for 2023 amounted to 6.54 million tons, while its net profit
per ton was HK$176.

8 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, as the PRC government implemented
the “zero tariff” on the import of various paper products, and the
industry’s newly-added production capacity was progressively put
into operation, paper manufacturing companies generally adjusted
their prices downward in the face of the competition. On the other
hand, weak market demand and the industry’s destocking cycle in
the first half of the year put pressure on operating efficiency. During
the second half of the year, the traditional peak season saw a
rebound in demand for paper products, and the profitability of the
entire industry improved in line with the gradual increase in paper

prices.

In the face of changes in market supply and demand and policy
adjustments, the Group actively consolidated its upstream resources
to develop a vertical business model covering pulp-making and waste
paper recycling, with a view to ensuring raw material supply and
controlling its costs so as to improve profitability. During the year
under review, the Group’s new pulp production lines in Chongging,
Jiangxi and Guangxi commenced operation in succession, with an
additional annual production capacity of 950,000 tons and a total

pulp production capacity of 1.2 million tons.

The overseas production bases that the Group’s previously established
have demonstrated their cost advantages and generated substantial
profits during the year under review. To further penetrate into the
Southeast Asian market, the Group’s fourth paper-making machine
production line in Malaysia has commenced operation during the
year, with an annual production capacity of 350,000 tons. Currently,
the total production capacity of the production base in Malaysia is 1.4
million tons.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Packaging paper remains the Group’s core business. In response to
the carbon emission reduction target, the State Council successively
promulgated the policies of the Notice on Further Strengthening the
Control of Excessive Packaging of Commodities ( <B4 — 4 & i
AR A7 A1) ) and the Circular of the General Office of
the State Council on Printing and Issuing the Development Plan for
Modern Logistics during the 14th Five-Year Plan Period ( ¢[E%5 [ #it
ARERRENEE [+ B i E e AL #I A9 H) ) to tighten
control on plastic packaging and promote the use of paper packaging
as a substitute, which will benefit the Group’s packaging paper
business. As the PRC government has placed greater emphasis on
supporting economic recovery, domestic consumption sentiment is
expected to improve, and demand for key paper products such as
packaging paper will also gradually pick up.

Regarding the overseas markets, the Group will leverage on the
manufacturing facilities in Malaysia and Vietnam and local resources
to improve its operational efficiency. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to support the “Belt and Road” initiative to boost its export
sales so as to fully explore business opportunities in countries and
cities along the Belt and Road, and expand its presence in

international markets in order to broaden its profit base.

With respect to the tissue paper business, the Group upholds its
business philosophy of the pursuit of high quality and environmental
friendliness and thus it introduced the natural bamboo unbleached
tissue to the market in order to satisfy consumers’ needs for
environmental protection and health. The economic outlook in
Mainland China is expected to gradually improve, resulting in a
steady increase in demand for tissue paper. Currently, the Group's
total annual production capacity of tissue paper has reached
approximately 1.1 million tons. The Group will continue to proactively
tap the potential of its tissue paper business based on consumer
demand in order to expand the market shares of the Group's tissue

paper business.

10 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

The Group has also devoted substantial resources to the pulp
business and actively integrated the pulp production lines in
Chongging, Jiangxi and Guangxi. By implementing the vertical
integration strategy, the Group has further secured the stable supply
of raw materials for tissue paper and optimized production costs,
thereby maximizing the profit of its pulp business and tissue paper

business.

In addition to its commitment to growing its core business, the
Group also devotes its efforts to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility by promoting various environmental-friendly initiatives.
On one hand, the Group offers its customers various environmental-
friendly products, while on the other hand, it reduces pollution and
carbon emissions through waste paper recycling and advanced
production technologies so as to achieve sustainable development.

In the long term, the paper manufacturing industry still has
tremendous room for development. The Group will continue to
implement a prudent operating strategy, actively explore business
opportunities in the paper manufacturing industry, further expand
and optimize the operation of its various business segments, develop
its integrated industrial chain for more stable operation, broaden its
profit base, and maintain its market competitiveness in the paper

manufacturing industry.

CONCLUSION

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to its employees
and shareholders for their strong support. Leveraging its leading
position in the paper manufacturing industry, consistently solid
development advantages, and improved profitability, the Group will
continue to create greater value for shareholders, employees and

society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
ordinary shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
HK$24.9 billion and HK$1.05 billion respectively, while its net profit
per tonne was HK$176.

The earnings per share for the year was HK24.39 cents when
compared with HK27.46 cents for the year ended 31 December
2022.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$595 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to HK$784 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. It represented about 2.4% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 and was
decreased as compared to about 2.7% for the year ended 31
December 2022.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$1,118
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to
HK$1,239 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. It
represented about 4.5% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023 and was increased as compared to that of 4.2% for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

12 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$831 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 as
compared to HK$365 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in both bank borrowing
amounts and average interest rate on bank borrowings during the

year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 66 days and 17 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2023 as compared to 47 days and 24 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 42 days for the year ended
31 December 2023 as compared to 38 days for the year ended 31
December 2022. This is in line with the credit terms granted by the

Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 38 days for the year ended
31 December 2023 as compared to 41 days for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEBF WK (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group (comprising of the
Company’s ordinary share capital, perpetual capital securities,
reserves and non-controlling interests) as at 31 December 2023 was
HK$28,767 million (2022: HK$28,607 million). As at 31 December
2023, the Group had current assets of HK$13,141 million (2022:
HK$12,921 million) and current liabilities of HK$11,436 million (2022:
HK$12,293 million). The current ratio was 1.15 as at 31 December
2023 as compared to 1.05 at 31 December 2022.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$19,293 million
(2022: HK$16,327 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$1,517 million (2022: HK$1,798 million).
The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased from 0.51
as at 31 December 2022 to 0.62 as at 31 December 2023 as the

result of the expansion of the Group.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a workforce of more than
10,000 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant
labour market and economic situation. The Group also provides
internal training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff
performance and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERER®RSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Board has adopted the principles of good corporate governance
principles (the “Principles”) and the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) as stated in the Code as the Corporate Governance
Code of the Company. The Company remains resolute in its
application of the Principles to the corporate governance of the
Group. The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance
policies to ensure that they remain updated and in compliance with
the requirements with the Listing Rules. In particular, the Company
adopted new Terms of Reference for the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 1 January 2023, and has reviewed its remuneration
policy and the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-
to-day operations of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sBs jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Ms. Lo Wing Sze 8BS Jp

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises of five executive
directors (one of whom is the Chairman) and three independent non-
executive directors. In addition, three of the independent non-
executive directors possess appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.

The biographical details of the directors in existence during the
financial year are set out on pages 118 to 124 to this annual report.
Other than disclosed, the board members have no financial, business,
family or other relationships with each other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, 6 full board meetings and an annual general
meeting (“AGM") were held and the individual attendance of each
director is set out below:

FEEBALEES  BZAREHRE
Tﬁt//\§$@§3§ HIE - HEelaansd
REBEZTHURABATSES - 117
Z . EFVEREEBEANGBHER -
BEREBERRN  —ExEREERAAE
XHeERSN A BERBRNBEETFEE
FoBERNERLHETERNEERBERX
REEEEH  FTHR -

EXehEFZ R RELEHEES
BEMREZWERT  MAEESHERE
BIE =& X RAARE K NoE R 12
RWER  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BIRERHIE -

fﬁﬁq Eﬁ%ﬁ6//’t%%§§$a Eﬂ?ﬁz&_
BRAFRG([RRAFRE])  BFF
HEBERFIINT

Number of meetings attended/Total

HEEE FRARE
Board

meeting AGM
Name of director BEp Exgges BRRBERE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond ss /¢ EX B tasngs AT+ 6/6 1/1
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp BB Eungs AT+ 6/6 11
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Tt A 6/6 1”1
Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung FEREE 6/6 1/1
Mr. Yip Heong Kan EmgkaE 6/6 17"
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BRI 5/5 171

G8M Gas Jp (note (i)) AgiE 5m2E AP (RE()

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (note (ii)) FRCE 5 A (R (i) 5/5 11
Mr. Peter A. Davies (note (ii)) Peter A. Daviesst & (3E(ii)) 5/5 1”1
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AR LA 6/6 11
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s ¢ (note (iii)) Eikssitmzmzs v (Fi) 17 -

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (note (i) PR 2 A (RE(iiD))

Notes:

(i) The director retired on 9 May 2023.

(ii) The directors resigned on 2 August 2023.

(iii) The directors were appointed on 2 August 2023.

11 -
(i) ZEEN2023F5A9HEN ©

(i) ZEEEN2023F8A2AHT -
(i) ZEEEN2023F8A2HEERT -
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Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored

induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper

understanding of the business and operations of the Company and

full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and

refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the

Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous

professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on

the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in

2023 is recorded in the table below.

BUZEEFOR BRI ZERERSE
X 2EERBARERZABEN - X
HMRZEFHARA 2 EBMEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN AR R KRR
MEERE T ZBEERER -

EERRERBERRLEF LS NBRK
BT T BAAREL B - TRMS S E
EN20BFRENEELHATNEE
BE  BERBEZHATLERENEY
S8 -

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 88
MEEERE IR RS
Name of director EEng BHER mHE EE
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs Jp EX Bt rsngs «THt v v
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FXW L2885 AFaL 4 4
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRErE 4 4
Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung TP E v v
Mr. Yip Heong Kan EmgkaE v v
Non-executive director FHTES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BRI 4 v
GBM GBS JP AEHEE 2XHEE X TFHL
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIREE v v
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies/t 4 v v
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David FEAR L v v
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88 Jp BT U T ogngs cvmt v v
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald RECEE 4 4
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current
members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To conform to the
provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, the written terms of
reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012, and
revised in (i) January 2016 to reflect the additional responsibilities of
the Audit Committee arising from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on
risk management and internal control under the Code applicable to
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016; and (ii)
January 2019 to reflect the amendments of the Code with effect
from 1 January 2019. A copy of the terms of reference is posted on
the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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ERERRE (F)

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FA- - AER=ZRERZESSH @ @5
RERHFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member REHR R #
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BAKEE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (note (7)) FRUR L& (GE(3D) 2/2
Mr. Peter A. Davies (note (i) Peter A. Davies %t 4 (3£(1)) 2/2
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s e (note (ii)) Bkt tagngs cva+(GEiD) ”n
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (note (ii)) PR B 4 A (EEGi)) 71
notes: s

(i) The directors resigned on 2 August 2023. (i) EHEEN 2023 E8 A 2 AEE -

(i) The directors were appointed on 2 August 2023. (i) ZEEEN2023F8A2BEEE-

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the

current members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald

FMEEER2005F Ky c MEKE R

77

EEKEE(TE)
BT T nas vt
FRE{C %4
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ERERRE (F)

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. Remuneration
packages should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors. The
Remuneration Committee, in making such recommendations, will
take into account salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group. A significant proportion of the
executive directors’ remuneration shall link rewards to corporate and
individual performance. The Remuneration Committee ensures that
no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. An updated terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were adopted with effect from 1 January 2023 to
conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is posted on

the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting. During the year ended 31
December 2023, as the Company did not have any share option
scheme or share award scheme, there were no material matters
relating to the share schemes which required review or approval by
the Remuneration Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and
the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March
2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is

posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held

during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives
The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination

Policy”) shall inter alia include the following:

o to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

o to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business; and

o to ensure the Board’s continuity and appropriate leadership at

the Board level.

REEESE

REZEEEMN2012F3 A28/ @ HEF
BB :

EXEEtuengs xFmr(FE)
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ERERRE (F)

Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is
considered for being appointed/re-elected as director and apply due
diligence in compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules including any amendments
thereto from time to time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall
consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from
shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations
and undertakings as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules. In the case of independent non-executive
directors, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the
independent non-executive directors meet the criteria of

independence as laid down in the Listing Rules.

While recommending any potential new member(s)/re-appointment
of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall

consider the following:

o candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company which are relevant to the Company’s business and

corporate strategy, other commitments and the like;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence, gender diversity and diversity of perspectives;

ZERERES

REZBERPFBLEENETEREER
BERFEANBIE - B - EEMHNE
B WREAAEANRASESAM N E
AR R BIEE R B A S R] R
TEBAZ - Wi RBRZBEEEZER
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willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession
plan and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from
time to time for nomination of Directors and succession

BEALBENBRARANKEET
EEZgh /HAEFEZEEKEN

B

HibERAR QR ES R A B R
ESQHETFENER - AREE
EBERT  EEFER/RRELEE
BB R, HEFT R - A
RAEFRETEESS &

planning; and

REZBEER/YEARBRARF]
BREENmOERNEBESE -

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit o
to consider in the best interests of the Company and

shareholders of the Company.

ERALZECHTHREL NI ENES
RAEZBEUURNER G E LA
BHAHREAREBEREERRRERN
ABETEHR  EBRIFEAETARNER
S - HKBIERZEENE - EFE
LEEBRIRA

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of
an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance
on the knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee,
the Board or the management.

REZBGAAEREMEXRE =TEM
AR5 LA 199 B e sl AR (B E RV IRIE A o

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other
professional third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating

potential candidates.
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The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and

regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws
and regulations, Mr. Lee Man Bun, Ms. Lo Wing Sze and Mr. Chan
Wai Yan Ronald, shall retire by rotation and being eligible, Mr. Lee
Man Bun, Ms. Lo Wing Sze and Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald offer
themselves for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general

meeting.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (“Mr. Chau”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since 1 October
2008 and has continued to serve the Company for more than nine
years. As required by Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the further
appointment of Mr. Chau will be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the aforesaid directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of

the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee of
the Group and she has confirmed that, in compliance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules, she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training during the year.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.
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The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks

considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management'’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EEERBAE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance EEZEZHBEHITU TEEEABENATIE
duties set out below or it may delegate the responsibility toa E—EAxXZRHAEZEEEE :

committee or committees:
o Developing, reviewing and updating the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making

recommendations on changes and updates;

o Reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;

o Reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

o Reviewing the Group’'s compliance with the Code and

disclosure in this report.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fee payable to the
Company'’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services

provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

SIS A% BB

REZFE2023F12A31BIEFE » AR
AILEHME AT EIRHOER N IFEZR
BRARRINEZ AN ENNE RS
T

HK$'000
FHET
Audit services EZRTE 7,750
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FEZRBE(BREHREEE -
review and other reporting services) 08 I B Ath B SR AR 7 ) 1,068
8,818
BOARD DIVERSITY -4
The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity (the “Policy”) ARFIDHEEETEKE Z /b BE ([ B
to ensure adequate diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January =R J)UABREZEFE 5 H % rib - 52019
2019. FIATBEMR -
Vision e =

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it
considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the
Company and the market from time to time. In reviewing and
assessing the Board’s composition and the nomination of directors (as
applicable), Board diversity shall be considered based on a number of
criteria, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional knowledge and experience,
industry knowledge and experience, technical skills and management

experience.
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Policy Statement

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’'s competitive
advantage.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which will include but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and the like. The ultimate decision will be based on
overall contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the

Company’s business model and specific needs.
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The current Board composition reflects a balanced mix of age,
educational background, professional knowledge, industry experience
and length of service to the Board. The diversity mix of the Board as

at 31 December 2023 is summarized below:

The Current Composition of the Board

BEMNESSHAMNRBRFR HEES
EEME - TELEBERESFENRBEF
BEmHEHEE c EEEMN20235F12 31
BRZTCAEBMBMT

EESHFARK

Age Gender Year of service as Director
FiR 14 7l EERKFE

30 — 49 years (4 persons) Male (87 %) 1 -5 years (4 persons)
30524955 (4N) B(87%) 1EE5F(4N)

50 — 59 years (3 persons) Female (13%) Over 10 years (4 persons)

505 E59m (3A) 2Z2(13%) T0F A E(4AN)

60 years and above (1 person)

605 A E(TA)

Gender Diversity of Workforce BEI R MERIZ Tk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had over 10,000 employees,
approximately 19% of whom were female. As at 31 December 2023,
the Senior Management of the Group comprised approximately 40%
female members, being the Financial Controller who is also the
Company Secretary and the Senior Finance Manager of the Group.
The Board regularly assesses the Group’s diversity profile of all levels
of employees and considers the diversity policy to attract, retain and
motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.
The Board considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of the
Group, including the Senior Management, is appropriate for the
operations of the Group and will strive to maintain this ratio. The
Company is committed to increasing the female representation on
the Board as mentioned above.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 39/F,
Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general

meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2022, as passed by a special
resolution in EGM of the Company, the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company was amended to (i) conform to the
core standards for shareholder protections as set out in Appendix 3
to the Listing Rules; (i) allow a general meeting to be held as an
electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting; (iii) bring the Memorandum
and Articles of Association in line with amendments made to the
Listing Rules and the applicable law and procedures in the Cayman

Islands; and (iv) to incorporate certain housekeeping changes.

Other than the above specified, there was no other significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to

shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights
to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim
dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires the
approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be
distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also
requires the approval of shareholders.

Retained profits can be used to achieve growth in corporate value.
The Board has been making effective use of retained profits to
strengthen the operating base and the development of businesses.
According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1
January 2019, the Board takes into account the following factors
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

. cash flow situation;

o availability of distributable profits;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o development plans;

o cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders as a whole;

o any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

38

there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its
liabilities or discharge its obligations as and when they become
due;

pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent
or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the
Company would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

there is any other case set forth by any law.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiE - HEBRERKRS

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Paper”, the “Group” or
“We") has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (this “Report” or “ESG Report”) for the period between
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 in accordance with the
requirements under Appendix C2 “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of
Hong Kong Exchange in order that stakeholders can better
understand our performance in respect of environment, social and
governance (“ESG") and related information.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND SCOPE

Unless otherwise stated, this Report focuses on the Group's core
paper manufacturing business in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Chongging,
Vietnam and Malaysia'. The annual production capacities of above-
mentioned plants accounted for nearly 80% of all plants of the
Group with thousands of employees hired, exerting a clear and
significant contribution on the Group’s operation and ESG
performance. The Group reports on the policies, measures,
performance and key performance indicators with significant impacts
on ESG issues based on the following four principles.

o Materiality: Significant environmental and social issues are
determined by key stakeholders;

o Quantitative: Measurable key performance indicators are
reported in a quantitative way with narrative and comparative
data where appropriate, and further improvement goals are
set;

o Balance: The Group’s ESG performance is reported in an
objective and fair manner,

o Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to make data
comparable.

' Malaysia is newly included in the reporting scope of 2023.
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RE #HERERKRSE (H)

Information contained in this Report has been identified by the
personnel in charge of the Group's ESG together with our key
stakeholders, and material ESG issues have been prioritised in
accordance with the materiality assessment. Preparation of the
Report involved participation of the management and employees
from all departments and has been approved by the Board to ensure
the truthfulness and accuracy of the content and create values for all
stakeholders.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board assumes the full responsibility of sustainable development,
including formulating the long-term, medium-term and short-term
development directions, evaluating the risks and opportunities of the
Group's key ESG issues, reviewing and ensuring the effectiveness of
the relevant risk management and internal control systems. Besides,
the Board also supervises senior management of the Group to
continually optimize the governance structure, promotes the
implementation of ESG initiatives and reviews reports prepared by
the dedicated working team on a regular basis with an aim of
making progress on sustainable development of the Group.

In terms of environmental protection, we have applied energy-saving
and emission-reducing elements in our domestic and international
industry chains and products, and invested resources in the
development of environmentally friendly production technologies
including the introduction of environmental-friendly ultra-low
emission technology, the use of biomass fuel to replace part of the
coal-fired power generation, etc., as a timely response to climate
changes and extreme weather conditions, so as to protect the safety
of factory workers and avoid property losses. In addition, we have
improved our labor management mechanism and enhanced staff
welfare and development, including a variety of training in the
physical, mental and professional skills of employees to bring benefits
to our employees.
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Our excellent governance system, combined with stringent
production procedures and quality control, enables us to create value
for our customers, the public and other stakeholders through our
products and services. This year, we were certified as the “Energy
Efficiency “Leaders” in Guangdong Province’s Paper Manufacturing
Industry” by Guangdong Paper Association and “Environmental
Integrity Enterprise” by Chongging Ecology and Environment Bureau,
demonstrating the community’s recognition of our environmental
protection and energy conservation efforts. The Group has also
launched and funded various charitable projects to fulfill its corporate
social responsibilities for alleviating poverty and assisting the disabled.

Looking ahead, we expect to achieve our targets in sustainable
development matters. In addition to our occupational safety targets,
we have set five environmental targets, using the figures in 2019 as
baseline to reduce overall air emissions by 2%, waste water by 1%,
non-hazardous waste by 2%, annual unit product coal consumption
at our major plants by 1%, and annual unit product water
consumption at our major plants by 1% in or before 2025. We will
continue to increase our investment in public service and community,
and regularly review the progress on ESG-related targets on an
annual basis and continue to pursue greener performance. With Lee
& Man Paper as our starting point, we will work together with our
stakeholders to drive sustainable development for a better future.

Board of directors
8 March 2024
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ESG CULTURE AND VISION

Embracing people-oriented principle
Protecting environment and saving energy
Striving for improvements

Contributing to society

Lee & Man Paper always adhered to a principle that places equal
emphasis on production and operation, recruiting the right talents
and letting them do their best, as well as environmental protection.
Through sound corporate governance, we aim at creating a future in
which operation will be performed in parallel with sustainable
development. We continue to invest resources in climate change
management, environmental conservation and technology research
and development to reduce emissions and strive to produce
sustainable products with the highest quality. With our aim of
establishing a people oriented and efficient corporate culture in the
long term, the vision of environmental protection and harmony will

be promoted to the whole country and even beyond.

ESG MANAGEMENT AND POLICIES

The Group has established a sound risk management and internal
control system, which is fully supported by the Board. We have
developed a management structure with established rules and
regulations, and specified the risks and respective persons in charge
of internal processes. Independent third party consultant is engaged
every year to conduct a comprehensive risk assessment and internal
audit for the Group to prepare risk management and internal audit
reports, which will be reported to the Audit Committee. We strive to
provide the Board with all-round information covering the
environmental, social and governance risks, including business
operation, occupational health and safety under the pandemic,
response to domestic and foreign environmental protection policies,
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compliance and anti-corruption, climate change, etc., to ensure ARNEBEKAFEER - BT THaREE
effective management and control and seize opportunities as they B X HESGEF/\H - /N

arise. The Board of the Company attaches great importance to the HRFZZHE - ANBRIPEBE - B8
Group’s sustainable development and has established an ESG task 3 EBEfE « (TEACIE - SHELIBE - A
force led by senior management, whose members including the % EBESGHE - THEEAREEHESG
heads of the quality control department, human resources [E\[& BB L EBEREBESGKRIR - WM
department, information technology department, administration ‘EIEEBELR - TEEBSIHEFE » 5137
managers and sales managers, etc., to identify major ESG issues, REHFEUMBEEERE @ SKEEHE
manage the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities and monitor the FEEBZEH - NEBMESGE AR
Group’s ESG performance on a regular basis, and report to the T :

management. The management will assess its impact and develop

long-term and short-term plans to address potential risks, which will

be reviewed and approved by the Board. The Group’s ESG structure

is as follows:

Formulate the overall ESG development direction and
The Board ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and
= corresponding internal control system in respect of the
Group's ESG, with a view to minimising the ESG risks exposed
by the Group and capturing opportunities,
while promoting the Group’s sustainable development.
HIEEEEESGE R 7 A - HERAKEFEESG T H A [ f B 12 &
TEPE AR EPEEIE R4, B A - DARR R 7R &5 B P 49 A
ESGRR KILEHE - (REASBENAHEER

Establish ESG management approaches, formulate
ESG policies and related measures to
integrate ESG elements into operations.

R ESGEIR T - FIFEESGINR RAAGEHE -
THESGILERMAZ X EEE S -

Senior management
(including the heads and
persons-in-charge of departments)

) ~Coordinate and supervise ESG issues
(the environmental protection team (including ESG report), regularly review the progress
safety steering team and ! of key performance indicator targets and
L make fine adjustments.
Incidents response oo €10 GEANEEESGER (BEESCHE) -
=NV E R R R AERIER B REEMEL K

Dedicated working team

Business units and
related personnel

FBEMK
HEAE
Set personal sustainable development Comprise personnel with relevant
goals and integrate the Group'’s environmental and safety management
philosophy into daily work. qualifications to materialise the implementation
IV EAAFI RER R AR - of ESG policies and measures and
RAREBEESNBEIEEF - report to the management on a regular basis.

TEEMITESGHUE 1 IE it - i AMHRIRGR &
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STAKEHOLDERS IDENTIFICATION AND ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders are internal and external interested parties of the
Group, which are closely related to the ESG management and
performance of the Group. By sorting out the individuals and parties
that can affect or be affected by the operations of the Group, the
management summarises the following seven key stakeholder
groups. The Group values the engagement of each stakeholder and
actively collects their opinions and expectations through interactions

in daily operation, understands the impacts brought to them by our $fE 222 - tMBEHEAEERNIRE « 1
operation, so as to identify the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities. 2 REGRK S

Stakeholder groups & engagement methods

FERBNSETE

Employees

BT

Customers

zF

Suppliers and business
partners

HERREBEHF

Investors and shareholders
BREERRBRR

Government and regulatory
authorities

BFREE e

Media
B

Community groups

HEER

Internal communication channels
Intranet and employee newsletters

M EPBARE
A EBAERE R B T

Official website

Advertisements and communication
B 77 Ak

ERE Y=

Business meetings

Audit and performance evaluations
%ﬂ& = na"x

Tt LR A

Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports
BRERBFRE
FERFERE

Public consultation

=

NS

Official website
B 77 48k

Social services
Charity activities
g R%
BETE
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regular meetings
Training and activities
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Service hotline and opinion survey
Interviews and meetings with customers
RBHAR LB R AL
BEFEANEZ

Site visits

Industry forums

B ER

FRmiE

Circulars and announcements
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During the Year, the stakeholders of the Group expressed concerns

in the following areas, among others:

o Use clean energy to reduce emissions

o Increase the use of innovative technology to reduce wastes

from production

o Improve product quality and thereby increasing customer

satisfaction

o Enhance occupational safety management in factories

o Cultivate the human resource and provide more trainings

The above considerations will be incorporated into the future
operational strategies of the Group in order to respond to the

demands of stakeholders.

ESG MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to determine the ESG issues that are significant to the
Group, the Group has conducted an ESG materiality assessment with
the representatives of the aforesaid key stakeholder groups through
interview and questionnaire. Relevance and materiality of issues are
assessed by internal and external stakeholders in order to identify and
analyse the most significant ESG issues of the Group. Such ESG issues
are determined in accordance with the ESG aspects as stated in the
Appendix C2 "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Exchange and
based on other factors which have an impact on the Group’s
operation and management system, objectives and core value, and

risks and opportunities.
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INTERNAL ASSESSMENT
G

Conducted by the Group's employees at different
levels based on the influence and materiality of that
ESG issue to the Group's sustainable operation

SERNZARNNE TRIBEZESGHREH & H
FEBECEERNFZENBEEEMIELF D

MATERIAL ISSUES
EREHE

EXTERNAL ASSESSMENT
ShERET AR

Conducted by the representatives of

external stakeholder groups based on the
influence and materiality of
that ESG issue to such stakeholders

SMNEBFR 1D AR R IR IR LESGRE &
HEFENEEUMIELFD
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MATERIALITY MATRIX BEEMER

Based on the assessments by stakeholders on various issues, we have #&&SFNERSERZEMNT S - B4R
identified the 30 issues that are most significant to the Group’'s & T30EYAEBMIFIHERABFEREM
stakeholders and our development, and these issues are ranked E&RAEZMESGHE  WHHIZEZRE
according to the materiality. In response to the increased concerns of ~ EBEZI] o B EARF [Z AL BIH1HE HIRR
the Group's stakeholders on environmental issues during the Year, HEHET EHA  XFEEHERELITE
the reporting focus of the Year has also been adjusted. The Group FT#%E - AE BB GHUETZEEHRIE
will continue to improve the group’s development framework to 28 * RESGEIE LMERFHEMT o

meet the needs of stakeholders in ESG management.

Air Emissions and
Sewage Discharges

BREAAHR ]

>

Environment-
Prohibition of Child friendly Products 11
and Forced Labour RRER

Use of Packaging
Materials
BEMEHER

12

BIEE T RgAST Equality, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination Occupational
T ?F’W‘ Health and Safety
SR BERFRES
‘ After-sale Services and
Compensation and Handling of Complaints
Compliant Operations Bene’f)\ts of Staff Members Working Hours and Holiday 15 RIS RIS R
AR B BHEREF TEE RS

Wastes f Wastes from
odoction Office V\/ork’

Production Office Wi

EEBEY ‘ / 24) rswn

Green Supply Chain Continuing Development
Product Quality [oa=) £ 3 of Staff Members

and Safety RIS te embs
EREERZE 27 BIHEER

Recruitment

Reasonable Marketing 4D f
and Promotion 29 an%i;é”é;%
AETHEEEG Community e
of Water Usage

Investment Management
and Donation o
HERITE LR FKER

Procurement and 26 a\ma(e Change 25

Supplier Management A “\ltlg/auril

REB LA EIR BAEFRIREIE  protection of Privacy
Environment and Natural Resources EAE Recycling of o vy
SRR RAAR Resources 14 LEBARE

Materiality to the Group's stakeholders
HEEEFNENEEY

HIR e
Biodiversity Noise Pollution E\lr??ie Change
Bt BEGR . SR
. Anti-corruption, Fraud and ‘
Money Laundering

By A FRRE - HREF ROE R

Materiality to the Group’s business

YA NES M >

B Compliance management @ Environmental protection Product quality
BRERE RIFRE EmmE
[ Staff development B Community investment

BTH#HRE HEIRE
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AWARDS & ACCOLADES FOR 2023

The Group has been putting continuous efforts since its inception

2023F FRERIEMEKE

with consistent commitment to our customers, employees and P+ B ~ ft@AEAGEBKN— - RAERLEE

community. Adhering to a principle that places equal emphasis on
production and operation as well as environmental protection, we

RERRBREVYENTE - THAER
TREEBAMNERERY - AEERX

stay committed to offering quality products and services to the # @ AFERMESTEZHRATEETE °

customers. With the support from various sectors, we have received

TAA2023F S EIBFNEEE -

a number of recognitions during the Year. The following table sets

out some of the awards and accolades received in 2023:

Awards and Honors

RIFMEKE

Awarded by
MHEEN

Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light
Industries 2022
2022FFEE THERTETREE

Sino-European Content Consistency Group Standards
for Environmental Footprint Assessment of Paper and
Paper Products — Participating Unit

PEAR - BIERAMER RIRE R P (4 R
BRE-2REMQ

High-tech Enterprise Certificate

Guangdong Comprehensive Resource Utilization Enterprise

Assessment Level | Capability

BEREEBRGE N MEETE—REE

China National Light Industry Council/China Paper
Association
TREBT¥MAS TEEKRS

China Paper and Pulp Industry Chamber of Commerce/
Confederation of European Paper Industries

PHMEERE BNERRERS S

Department of Science and Technology of
Guangdong Province/
Department of Finance of Guangdong Province/
Guangdong Provincial Tax Services, State Taxation

Administration

BRERERIMEE/
&R & B R/
B REREHEH

Guangdong Association of Circular Economy and
Resources Comprehensive Utilization

EREERREBENEREENAHE
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Awards and Honors

RIFANRE

Awarded by
MHBEN

Energy Efficiency “Leaders” in Guangdong Province’s
Paper Manufacturing Industry (Boxboard/Coated
White Paperboard)

BREERERE R EWRE | (FBER 2HARE)

Environmental Integrity Enterprise

BRRHAGEEE

Chonggqing Enterprise Innovation Award

BEEM R EAIFE

Top 100 Taxpaying Enterprise in 2022
2022F EMB B RBE

Certificate of Positive Contribution to Social and

Economic Development

HEEERRSE LA B

Guangdong Paper Association

EREER DS

Chonggqing Ecology and Environment Bureau
BEREMERERERR

Chongging Municipal People’s Government

BEMARBA

Changshu Municipal Party Committee and
Municipal Government

BAME - BT

Hau Giang Province in Vietnam

BREEITE

BERAR AT 2023 F1R]
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery, Anti-fraud and Anti-money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity supervision, and is
committed to preventing corruption, bribery, fraud and other
behaviors that are illegal and against commercial ethics, to make sure
we have always observed laws and regulations on prevention of
commercial crimes in our daily operations, including but not limited
to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the "Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and so forth. Enterprises are required under laws and regulations to
abide by the principles of fairness, equality and integrity, to act in a
lawful manner, to adhere to commercial ethics, and not to operate
business by means of theft, bribery, deception, compulsion or other

improper means.

The Group believes that to achieve anti-corruption, it relies the
cooperation of both internal and external parties within the
organization. Therefore, all employees are required to abide by the
“Standards for Commercial Ethics” and “Anti-Corruption Policy”
complied by the Group, which restricts employees to serve the
Company and customers with professional compliance, equality,
fairness, and integrity. The Worker's Manual of the Group also clearly
stipulates code of personal and professional conduct for their
stringent compliance, pursuant to which employees are not allowed
to accept any special privilege during transactions, including but not
limited to rebates, expensive gifts, luxury hospitality, etc., so as not to
affect their objectivity and professional judgment. In addition, all
employees of the Group are required to sign “Undertaking to
Integrity” upon onboarding, undertaking that he/she will not use his/
her position to seek for unfair benefits nor gain personal profits to

the detriment of the Company.
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The Group has also put in place an anonymous whistleblowing
mechanism for employees. Any person who comes to know that the
interests of the Company are infringed by any person or issue may
lodge a complaint or grievance with the Personnel Section, the
Human Resources Department, the Administration Department or, in
general, with the department head who has the authority to deal
with the matter. The Complaints and Grievances Handling
Department will issue confirmation of receipt within 5 working days
of receipt of the complaint or grievance, and on a case-by-case basis,
decide whether an internal investigation, an external third-party
investigation or referral to the relevant supervisory authority is
required. In the case of a serious issue involving a large number of
parties, such case will be immediately reported to a higher authority,
which will report the same to the Chief Executive Officer. The
Grievance and Complaint Handling Department shall keep the
identity of the employee who makes the complaint or lodges the
grievance confidential, and any breach of confidentiality shall be
dealt with by the Company in accordance with the rules and
procedures. We have regularly assessed and reviewed the internal
management system to ensure that potential corruption risks can be
effectively prevented. The results of the above review and audit will
be reported to the Audit Committee to ensure that the relevant risks
are acknowledged, assessed and addressed. In order to emphasise
the Group's integrity policies and allow employees to clearly
understand the Company’s anti-corruption policy and the importance
of integrity, the human resources department and the legal
department regularly provide anti-corruption trainings to the
management and employees, and new comers are required to
receive integrity education and training.

In the meantime, business counterparties of the Group, including
customers, suppliers and contractors are required to sign an
“Undertaking to Eliminate Bribery” by promising no bribery will be
conducted and integrity will be upheld together with the Group, and
violators shall bear the losses and all legal consequences of the
Group. The Group also encourages its partners to provide their anti-
corruption policies for our reference, ensuring that both parties
cooperate on a fair, open and just basis.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption or anti-money laundering.
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Employment

Lee & Man Paper regards employees as one of its valuable assets and
relies on their contributions to create a competitive advantage for the
Group. The Group actively attracts and motivates outstanding talents,
assists employees in developing their potential to realise the people-

oriented core value.

Given that staff in Mainland China represents a majority of the
personnel of the Group, the Group fully complied with the
requirements of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
other relevant local employment laws and regulations. In accordance
with the requirements, employees are entitled to compensation,
holidays and leaves, occupational safety, trainings, insurance and
benefits, the right to propose for the handling of labour disputes and
other labour rights. The Group has established policies and
procedures ensuring the implementation of statutory requirements
and hence providing its employees with a work and living
environment of higher level of quality, fairness and respect. In
response to the expansion of the Group, we have further sorted out
and adjusted our domestic and foreign human resource management
strategy to specify the responsibilities and rights of both employees
and employers, strengthening the protection for our staff.
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Recruitment, Promotion, Compensation and Benefits

Talents are always in demand and the Group has been eager to
recruit those who share the same values and visions with us so that
we can build a diversified and professional team full of passion. By
external recruitment and internal promotion channels to recruit and
promote staff, as well as the establishment of our internal
“Recruitment Management Policy”, “Promotion Management
Policy”, “Appraisal Management Policy”, “Salary Management
Policy”, "Termination Management Policy” and other relevant
guidelines to govern administrative works including staff recruitment,
appraisal and termination, the Group ensured high efficiency,
compliance and transparency throughout the process. The Group
also distributed the Worker’s Manual to staff introducing its culture
and core values, admission and appraisal, benefits and holidays,
working hours and overtime regulation, training arrangements etc.,
ensuring that staff had full understanding of the human resources

policy of the Group and the right to protect their own interests.

In order to enable employees to better develop on the existing basis,
improve work ability and strength to become outstanding talents, the
management team maintains two-way communication with
employees, and determines the salary, personal development plans
and training of each employee in accordance with their performance,
experience, expertise and job duties, to enable them to grow with
the Company. We strive to provide employees with better-than-
market benefits and compensation packages to attract and retain

talents.
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In terms of benefits, the Group maintains provident fund and social
insurances for its employees, ensuring that they can work only after
being insured. It also takes full consideration of employees’ needs by
arranging convenient accommodation and meals for employees and
their families. For the employees' work life balance, the Group
promises to let our employees enjoy work injury leave, marital leave,
paternity leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave, business trip
leave, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave and medical insurance,
and bonuses based on employee performance and the Group's

profit.

We implement forty hours work week arrangement to ensure
reasonable working hours so as to give employees sufficient rest and
to avoid overwork. The additional working hours must be agreed and
the “Overtime Request Form” must be filled by employees, and then
the form should be submitted to the human resources department
for record. For any complaints relating to working hours which are
against employees’ wishes or unreasonable, the Group will arrange
follow-up investigations by the human resources department to

protect employees’ labour rights and interests.
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Employees’ Data for the Year

All employees engaged by the reported plants are full-time
employees. The total number and percentage of employees are as

REEBEIHE
AEEMERNEIZA/ERET BT
MEBRNBED L DMIAT

follows:

Employees by gender
EEMR

180/’

82%

H Male & W Female &

Employment category by position

B AR S8 R

5%

20%

75%

B General staff
—MRETL

M Mid-level staff and
management
RRETNERERE

W Senior management
SREEE

Contract types
aHER

0.4%

99.6%

B Long-term contract ™ Temporary contract

RHAH

Employees by age
EEF&R

14%

24%

62%

B Aged below 30
308 AT

B Aged 30-49
30-4975%

M Aged 50 or over
50583 A |

S

Total employees by region

BiHERERSAH

1%

22%
30% '
18%

H Vietnam Lee B Chongging Lee

and Man and Man
MEFE EEEX

m Jiangsu Lee m Guangdong Lee
and Man and Man
TTERIEX EREX

= Malaysia Lee
and Man
S IRIE L
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Total number of employees 2023 2022
BTHH 2023F 20225
By gender

4 5l

Male 7,102 5,806
5

Female 1,594 1,346
L8

By contract types

aRER

Long-term contract 8,661 7,132
REEH

Temporary contract 35 20
PRl & 4

By position

R AR

General staff 6,539 5,282
—RET

Mid-level staff and management 1,757 1,492
hRETIRERRE

Senior management 401 378
BRERE

By age group

FiAa R

Aged below 30 2,085 1,339
30 AT

Aged 30-49 5,430 4,825
30-495%

Aged 50 or over 1,181 988
505k A £

Region

&

Guangdong 2,632 2,765
BR

Jiangsu 1,578 1,605
PR3

Chongging 1,871 1,798
]

Vietnam 925 984
i

Malaysia 1691 N/A
5 2R 8 8 ' @R
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Employee turnover rate

BIfKLR

By gender
=3z

Male 14% 17%

[==]
=3

Female 23% 19%
Z

By age group

FHAER

Aged below 30 28% 30%
30BRA R

Aged 30-49 12% 14%
30-495%

Aged 50 or over 10% 16%
50BRZA £

Region

&

Guangdong 12% 23%
B3R

Jiangsu 1% 18%
LER

Chongging 13% 4%
BE

Vietnam 22% 26%
g

Malaysia 25% N/A
P i AN iE A
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Employee Care

We foster employees’ loyalty through a positive corporate culture,
promote and strengthen cohesion among teams, cultivate closer
relationship between employees and the Company, and achieve the
objective of “a win-win situation for both employer and employee as
one”. The Group insists on maintaining good communication with
employees. The interaction between employees and the Company
can make both parties easier to hear and understand each other. We
also continue to improve employee services in terms of meals,

accommodation and amenities based on employees’ needs.

We regularly provide recreational activities and festive celebration
activities, such as the Spring Dinner, the National Day Celebration
Dinner, sports competition, lucky draw event and staff birthday party
and so on, to encourage employees and their families to participate
so as to share the joy of life and promote physical and mental health
of employees. In addition, the Group has set up an employees’
welfare and assistance fund to help them meet emergency needs. If
an employee or his/her family had a need for financial assistance due
to an emergency, the Group would directly release emergence fund
from the welfare fund to the employee to provide them with caring

assistance and help them through the difficult time.

Recreational activities for employees

BT NRELED

Basketball game

EIRLLE

BTHEE
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BPIEHRRIREEMEG A EDE -
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E2E KEXmz% REEING DL
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PESHETRS A BEBETIRERE
BREEZBARTEMBER - AKRES
BRMNUBESERBFEET - K TE
TARBEED EPETEBRE -

Chess gathering

SEFE

58 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRE (H)

Ten Years of Service

Guangdong plant continued to hold the “10-Year Management
Service Award"” presentation ceremony in this year. Mr. Hong
Wenyan (# 3 Z), Administrative Manager of Guangdong Lee &
Man, was invited to attend the ceremony and present gold medals to
several winners of the 10-Year Management Service Award. He also
expressed his gratitude and congratulations to the recipients who
worked hard and contributed to the development and progress of
Lee & Man at their respective positions. By doing so, the Group not
only sought to motivate employees, but also give them the warmth
and care of the Group during the COVID-19 pandemic.

+ei

ERTBEARTERERT +HEERR
T8 IR o B RUE XTI X
ERERBEE - AR TEERRHR
BEEBELIE  HESSMLARXE
B SELE NN ARG SEEARR
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Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group encourages mutual respect and trust among our
employees, strives to build a harmonious Lee & Man family, and
prohibits any behavior that undermines a harmonious and integrated
team. The Group is committed to creating a working environment
with fairness, openness and mutual trust for its employees since its
establishment. The Group has drawn up its “Management Rules
against Discrimination, Harassment and Torture”, ensuring that our
employees receive equal treatments in our daily operations and in
every aspect of our human resources arrangements and would not
be subject to discrimination on grounds of ethnicity, nationality,
religion, political affiliation, sex, marital status and physical disability.
The Rules also prohibits all forms of harassment, coercion and
misconduct so as to safeguard the wellbeing of our employees. The
Group takes seriously any violation of the Code, and in the face of
unfair treatment or harassment, employees can report such incidents
in written form and put it into our “feedback box”, allowing the
human resources department to conduct investigations and follow-
up. The related employees will be informed of the results and any
form of retaliation is strictly forbidden.

The human resources policies of the Group have been in compliance
with all local labour laws in aspects such as recruitment, dismissal,
salary and benefits, working hours and holiday entitlements. During
the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted a breach
of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other
relevant local laws and regulations in relation to employment and

human resources.
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Health and Safety

As the Group's production procedures involve the use of machinery
and the operation with high risks, we have attached great importance
to the occupational safety of our employees, and have taken all
appropriate measures to safeguard the health and safety of our
workplaces. The safety work of the Group is primarily governed
under the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Law of the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” and other relevant safety
regulations, standards and systems. The regulations emphasised that
production safety is important for the safety of employees’ lives and
property. We shall take the objectives of “Safety First, with Emphasis
on Prevention and Integrated Governance” as our guiding principles
to establish a sound system of accountability for production safety
and the prevention and control of occupational diseases, and to form
policies and procedures for safety management with a view to be
effectively engaged in production safety. The Group complies with

the requirements under laws and regulations in five ways as follows:

Occupational health and safety elements:

BERERZ2TE:

Policies and procedures for production safety management
TR EEERREHE

Designated safety managers

ZE2EEEEAER

Policy for safety roster and inspection

Z2fE ERHIE
Safety education and training
gl
evention of occupational diseases and
mechanism for management and inspection of
accidents
By 2R TES

BEREZE

AEENEETF PP RERERRKS
et AR FIFEERETINREL
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Policies and procedures for Production Safety Management

We have formulated a sound “Policy for Production Safety
Management” to provide for stringent standards for occupational
safety. Employees shall comply with safety requirements specified in
such policy including those on hazardous goods handling, fire safety
management, warehouse safety management, safety requirements
for special operators and so forth. Moreover, employees are required
to implement the responsibility system for production safety, strictly
follow processes and comply with the safety operation procedures.
The Group has also issued its Worker’'s Manual setting forth policies
and practices on occupational safety for reference by all employees,

to facilitate the implementation of its safety policies;

Designated Safety Managers

We appointed safety managers to take responsibility for the
supervision and monitoring of the safety affairs of the Group and to
ensure its effectiveness. Safety managers shall, based on national
laws and regulations and its objectives of safety management,
determine the annual plan on safety work deployment and
investment, and regularly convene safety meetings at all hierarchical
levels of staff, to know the progress and effectiveness of its safety
work and advocate the concepts of production safety to its

employees;

Policy for Safety Roster and Inspection

A comprehensive policy for safety roster and inspection is in place,
pursuant to which the departmental persons-in-charge shall regularly
inspect equipment and facilities, warehouses, electricity and gases,
meters, maintenance results, hygiene, fire safety equipment and fire
safety systems and so forth, and immediate rectifications shall be
adopted against potential threats to safety. On a daily basis,
production staff shall inspect specified areas to further ensure

production safety;
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Safety Education and Training

We have established a mechanism for safety education and training,
under which we systematically plan for training programs and
provide trainings on policies and regulations, occupational safety and
health, case study for accidents and emergency management, in
response to employees’ needs for safety trainings. Employees are
required to meet pre-set training hours every year to ensure adequate
acquisition of safety knowledge. The Group also regularly organises
first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation and escape drills. Different posters
and notices are also posted in production workshops to remind

employees of the importance of occupational safety all the time; and

REHE RE

BRI T REHE RIBIES - BRER
WHHE TR L2 EIFRRE—LET
REEIIRE - RETIREBER AR -
BEZ2REE  FHRIINESERS
Bl - BT H5FHFENRENFIIZE -
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B TEMBLEESHMEHEENRER
ERBMETR - BAREETIL24E
K

Policy for Prevention of Occupational Diseases and Mechanism
for Management and Inspection of Accidents
We have established and been implementing a policy for prevention

of occupational diseases and a mechanism for management and
inspection of accidents which are effective in safeguarding against
the occurrence of occupational diseases, and in identifying accidents
and unsafe factors. The Group has set out guidelines to be applied in
case of emergency to ensure that employees respond in a correct and
timely manner to minimise the loss arising from and impact of

accidents.
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In view of the above, looking forward, our occupational safety goals %z FFrit - BEARK » RN BELE R

are: Z 2

o to attain over 99% of the staff safety training achievement o BT Z&2FFIIERKREII%IA L

rate;
e to arrange occupational health and safety body checks forall o A2EE T LB ERFEL 2 B
employees at least once a year; B BFEEL-R

o to treat noises and air emissions in line with national standards; o FAEREZEMNRIMRERERIE

e to achieve zero mortality in safety accidents and no fire o ZLZ2ERRTRELZFEANLE
accident throughout the year.

o

s

Data on work-related fatalities and injuries are as follows: EPOREITHEIESEDT -

Data on occupational safety

BEZ2EIE

Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
AT THA

Lost days due to work injury 4,883 5.040 4,558
ETEmERH TIERE

Caring for the safety of employees, the Group has continued to ZAEBNBETI XS @ THENBLTE2RE
enhance its safeguards and investment on improving the employees’ &4 - ?xﬁﬁ(%;ﬁﬁ'ﬁ& =5 T T{EIRE -
workplace, and has received professional recognition. Our plants in ~ WESHZE ST o #iF « JT& - EB AT
Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi were granted with FEAKED o J’E' E]ISO45001 B ¥ 2 FE &2
ISO45001 certification for occupational health and safety, %2 R&E - NEFR @ NEE WL HHIE
respectively. During the Year, the Group did not aware of any (FAER(PEARAMB L 24 EEZIR
material breach of the “Law of Production Safety of the People's  HEfhih[@ 4 &8k EEE L 2 HBHEN
Republic of China” and other local laws and regulations in relation to  SA#REIE AE N ©

occupational health and safety.
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Training and Development

Talent is the cornerstone of the Group’s development. The Group
treasures every employee and believes that an excellent team can
create greater value for the Group. The Group has customised its
“System for the Management of Training” for cultivating every
employee by inspiring his/her potential and devising annual training
programmes based on the combination of the needs of the Company
and the individual needs of employees, thereby achieving joint
development and attaining goals. The Group always concerns about
the business and skills development of its staff. During this year,
there was an significant increase in the relevant data. Due to the
pandemic, the stakeholders were more concerned about hygiene,
employee’s physical and mental health related topics. In order to
keep employees physically and mentally healthy, the Group has held
more training sessions to promote physical exercise and strengthen
employees’ knowledge and understanding of fire prevention,
occupational crime, laws and regulations etc. At the same time, to
further enhance the overall technical competence and safety
awareness of the general staff so as to prevent work-related injuries,
the Group also enhanced training for the general staff throughout
the year.
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The training programmes can be divided into four categories:

Internal Training

AESEE]

External Training

SMEBSE

Management
Trainee Program
EEREL
=HE

Top-up degree
training

S A

l

BIATEEZD /AT OESHE

Admission training: It covers introduction to the firm, rules and procedures, and
attendance and salary matters, mainly for familiarising new joiners with the Group's
background and expectations of the Group on employees

ARSI - XM - RESENEZHZFAY  BHRABELTHRASENS R
RH BT T{EREIE

Production safety: It borrows the concepts of 7S management practices originated
from Japan and the relevant ISO requirements, allowing employees to enhance
production quality and to improve working environment

SERE S ERRBANTSEERSEEHS - URISORBIZENESK - FET
REEERTIHERREE

Fire safety: It raises employees’ awareness of fire safety and improves their ability to
address emergencies

HBERZ (RS EINNAEBIARESER TR EE R

Environmental protection knowledge training: It strengthens the importance of
energy saving and emission reduction and environmental protection knowledge, and
raises the awareness of employees toward sustainable development

BRRABIFI - RFDERPFNBRN  REETHRREAIFEEFRNES

Expertise training: Employees are assigned to receive training offered by third party
institutions for acquiring the most updated industry information and techniques
desirable for increasing productivity and competitiveness

ITRERTY| : SN EIH DM AR EETIR - BEITESEHEM  BBTE
RARINSE - BB B TIRSEE N RIEREF /)

Training for special position: Experts are engaged to conduct trainings for enabling
such employees to attain adequate knowledge and skills for their positions

BHREAIE  TEERE B TETIH - BRE TH RAMBMEEEBETIE

Targeted training: For employees who have the potential and ability to join the
management, the Group would arrange comprehensive management training
programmes for them to prepare them for promotion

B HRABEENBRNEAEEENEL  FAEESRARHHRE BRI
FIERIE - (ERB TR

Develop potential successors: We select trainees and fully subsidize them to attend
a two-year diploma course on paper-making technique offered by the South China
University of Technology in Guangzhou every year. After graduation, those trainees
would be assigned job duties at different positions in the Group

BEEEA  8FHERBEINEMNERE T RSEERIHMF O ERARMSURR
B WEBREER EXREETFITEENRS BEELAR

Technical knowledge enrichment: Jiangsu Lee & Man signed a letter of intent with
Nanjing Forestry University for the provision of top-up degree training, and the Group
financed those production technicians with college diploma to receive top-up degree
training, enriching their professional and technical knowledge, combining theory and
practice, and improving their overall quality. Vietnam Lee & Man also cooperated with
Xidu College to conduct trainings on professional skills and techniques for staff from
maintenance workshops, power stations, production workshops, monitoring teams
and infrastructure departments

RACB M AR IR RMERERIENAMBEO N ZE - AEELEYH
RELFHEERMABETEARNEI - A B TEERMAE - Bm T EE
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Training data for the respective years

Percentage of trained employees’
EEEIETHEA

By gender
5

Male

[==]
=3

Female

£°8

By position

B AR R

General staff

—RET

Mid-level staff and management
FRETRERRE

Senior management

BRERE

Average training hours per employee

S TEZEI|FHIEHE

EFERZIBE

2023 2022
20235 20225
84% 81%
16% 19%
73% 74%
22% 21%
5% 5%

By gender
5
Male

[==]
=3

Female

£78

By position
B R

General staff

—MmET

Mid-level staff and management
FRETIRERRE

Senior management

SREERE

The percentage of trained employees is calculated based on the “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and the relevant data for 2022 has been
updated accordingly.

34.51 26.18
34.57 26.57
34.47 2329
28.01 14.33
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Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group recruits qualified workers in adherence to the principles of
fairness, openness and free will. Every subsidiary of the Group
entered into legal employment contract with employees in
accordance with the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China” or applicable local labour laws and there was no forced
labour. In the meantime, the Group only recruits people who have
attained the age of 16 in strict compliance with the “Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and other applicable local labour
laws and regulations. The Group formulated its own “Management
Rules for the Use of Minors as Labourers and Prohibition against the
Use of Child Labour” to prevent the use of child or illegal labour and
to protect the legitimate rights and interest of the minors. During the
recruitment process, the human resources department would check
the personal information of applicants and conduct background
investigation. If such investigation generated any irregular result, the
Group would retain the record and cease the application process
accordingly. In the “Worker’s Manual”, the Group also encourages
employees to whistleblow on the use of false identity documents in
order to achieve effective control from different perspectives.

The Company adheres to the highest standard of human resource
management, firmly ensures that all job offers are voluntarily
accepted by employees, and strictly prohibits the withholding of
employees’ personal identification documents, work permits and
other government-issued travel documents. We are committed to
clearly and unambiguously specifying the terms of employment in
our employment contracts in language that all employees can
understand to protect employees’ rights and interests. At the same
time, the Company strictly prohibits charging any form of fees to
employees or their agents during the recruitment process to ensure
the fairness and transparency of the recruitment.
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The Group insists on reviewing and updating its rules and regulations
in the recruitment process on a regular basis to ensure compliance
with relevant international conventions and domestic laws. We
regularly carry out audits on our employees, and immediately cease
the use of child labor or forced labor in the event of any such
violations and take necessary support measures. In case of child
labor, we will immediately report to the local labor department,
arrange a health check, and bear the corresponding medical
expenses. If child labor is misused due to insufficient verification of
the authenticity of the documents, we will immediately terminate the
labor relationship with them and help them continue their education
by providing certain subsidies for their learning and living expenses.
The Company will provide them with financial assistance of no less
than the local minimum wage every month until they attain the age
of 16.

In view of the aforesaid internal control measures, during the Year,
the Group did not find anything which constituted a material breach
of any of the abovementioned labour standards or other relevant

laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION

Emissions

The Group is a world-leading manufacturer of containerboard, pulp
and tissue paper and is in possession of several large scale
manufacturing plants for papermaking, pulp-making and tissue paper
in China. Therefore, the operation of the Group is principally
governed by the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution”, and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Due to Solid
Wastes” in Mainland China and regulations and emission standards

in other local laws.

In accordance with the requirements, environmental protection
strategies adopted by enterprises shall follow a principle of “priority
to protection, emphasis on prevention, integrated governance, public
participation and liability assumption of damages”, in order to
prevent and control pollution and damages with compliance
measures, to establish an accountability system for environmental
protection and to clarify responsibilities of enterprises and related
responsible officers, hoping to create commercial value for all
stakeholders while reducing the impact on environment. The use of
advanced and latest pollutant treatment technologies are also
encouraged by China for facilitating the environmentally-responsible
development.

In response to the government’s total ban on the import of solid
waste products from 2021, we have significantly increased our
purchases of domestic waste paper, and set up plants overseas to
process waste paper raw materials before importing to China to
ensure that our green production model of converting waste paper

into environmentally-friendly products is not affected.
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Being well aware that environmental protection is an important basis ~ AEERBRBFRESUFELZRENEE
for its development, the Group has adopted a number of & - [ £ % 18 Bk HE 45 3 &2 B5 92 5 5%
improvement and monitoring measures to ensure performance of FERBITHREREMNETT - REBEFE
our environmental responsibilities. The Group has established various — AJ & T8 IR (R B 58 BA 45 g B2 45 ¢

environmental protection policies and measures including:

Setting Up Environmental Team
LR R/NAE

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, the environmental team comprises members having the relevant expertise,
including senior flue gas treatment experts, sewage treatment technicians, environmental monitoring professionals
and environmental protection technicians so as to ensure effective implementation of the following measures.
HERBAITERESE  HEERESAN  BESAERAEM  J5KEEBAE  RIREAAES  RIFREZE
Bt AB S - RE T HIERRRRIE S AR RBNTT -

Duties of Environmental Team
RIRDARE

1. Holding internal control meetings regularly to review environmental issues in the plants, to update themselves
with applicable environmental laws and regulations and to give advice on any improvements;

2. On an ongoing basis, the team engages themselves in environmental protection measures to be taken in
production processes, including those employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water and air
emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring emissions to ensure continued compliance with high
environmental protection standards.

1. THARRNIEESE BEEBMNEBEBEANRRERE  BASKERREERFENEIRGR - W RF
R EZEERIRETR LA B B

2. TEHTEEERRBHRNIRRER  SFERLHKE  EBRAEARNEKEERN 6iERERE RAE
RROERERIERM MEFMERS - RS EDSRRIZE -

Environmental Policies and Measures

RABRRE R

v set up policies for emissions treatment to provide clear targets and state the responsibilities and division of
labour for environmental protection measures adopted by the Group;

v formulate guidelines for energy-saving and reduce emission at the source;

v as part of the various efforts to make us one of the companies which best complies with environmental

protection principles in the world, our different plants have employed technologies with high efficiency to

reduce emission and keep our emission below the latest emission standards laid down by the government as

well as internationally applicable environmental management standards.

BRI ILE - RARERA 2 RRIEGREAEN B SNRES T

v RIMERRIBEIRIES! - EIRSEIREE

v BEEFRSBERMEER - REFERBUTSIBEBIRENERUKE - HIRERRITEREE - W8N
KAZHEHERRRAUNAGZ— -

N
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The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection, including the
aforementioned laws and regulations and other local law
requirements and emission standards. During the Year, the Group
did not find anything which constituted a breach of relevant
environmental protection laws and regulations. Looking forward, in
order to further alleviate the impact on environment, the Group has

set up various five-year goals in 2020 based on the 2019 baseline,

RNEBEHH BT JRRBREEBOE
BISEAR - BIE LT IR RAEGLER R E
fib 30 [ M B VE R B SR RBERUR2E o REFE
A AEEWRBERRTMERRERE
MEREEPIER BN  MIBRK - A
—FTREHIRFEOZE  L2019FR/E
£ AREE200FEHETZEAFE
=B

including:

5-year goals based on 2019
Category bench mark Status in 2023’
Cil L2019 HEEHSFAZ 2023FR0R°
Air emissions’ Reduce by 2% Increased by 20%
& SRBER 152 % EF20%
Waste water emissions Reduce by 1% Increased by 21%
TEIKBEL FE1E1 % FFH21%
Non-hazardous waste Reduce by 2% Increased by 15%
BEERY 2% EFA15%
Unit product coal consumption Year on Year reduce by 1% Reduced by 22%
ITEREBENERRRE R T 1% FE1K22 %
Unit product water consumption Year on Year reduce by 1% Reduced by 7%
FERFEEMEMMEKE AL T B 1% FE1KT7 %

During the year, coal consumption was reduced as compared to the
last year, because of the decrease in production level. Difficulties of
control in waste water, non-hazardous waste and consumption of
water were elevated due to the issuance of tightened environmental
protection policies implemented by Chinese government that
restricted import of raw materials from international waste residue

Some figures increased significantly as a result of the addition of Malaysia Lee &
Man to the reporting scope this year as well as the various items newly added in
the environmental aspects. We will review the appropriateness of the five-year
goals in the future.

Only based on the calculation of the sum of Nitrogen Oxides (NO,), Sulfur Dioxide
(SO,) and Particulate Matter (PM).

EAFE ZEETRMAEZE  AEAD
MREREFD - IHERTFEBFHEL
#EOINEREAR AT - RERITRIER -
EEEREY RFEKT EHERERIENE
BeomNEARRERBEARER  <ER
TEBRTELERZISR - AE - BINK

’ MRS FERSHENIE T FRAEEX - U
FIRBHBIRMT TRIEE - o HEX
fBEF - RMEAERKBRAFAFENEE N

¢ REERE/Y (NO) » —HA1LH (SO,) KR
¥ (PM) K42 & -
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markets. The swifting to domestic wastepaper by the mainland plants
has resulted in more sludge being generated during the paper
manufacturing process. At the same time, the overseas plants
processed the wastepaper into the wet and dry pulp for the mainland
plants to replace some of the wastepaper, also resulted in more
sludge generated. In order to reduce the impact of sludge on the
environment, the Group has strictly monitored the wastepaper and
built a waste incinerator at the mainland plants so as to treat sludge
internally and to reduce the related waste volume. Meanwhile, due
to market changes and the long operating hours of the equipment,
there was increased number of machinery downtimes for repair and
maintenance as compared to the last year, leading to an increase in
various types of oil and waste fluids. The Group has strengthened the
relevant equipment management when carrying out equipment
maintenance, in order to reduce the erosion to the equipment and
improve the operating efficiency, which also helps to reduce the
number of downtimes for maintenance in the coming year.

The Group will continue to invest supplementary resources in
achieving our targets. Through improving operation workflow and
adopting the relevant measures below, we are confident in fulfilling

our five-year goals and endeavour towards a sustainable future.

Air Emissions

To ensure sufficient power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had their
own thermal power stations operating coal-fired generators and
therefore, there have been gas emissions including nitrogen oxides
and sulphur oxides. Different plants of the Group have established
energy-saving policies to regulate energy consumption for production
activities and offices. Relevant measures also include formulation of
energy consumption targets, establishment and implementation of
an inspection system for energy usage, training programs and

promotion for energy conservation etc.
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Case Study: Environmentally friendly Thermal Power Station
BZRME - RRATIL

Environmentally friendly circulating fluidised bed boilers used in our
thermal power stations can achieve efficient combustion of all
kinds of coal. As the combustion temperature in this kind of boilers = '
is lower than that in pulverised coal boilers, less nitrogen oxides f{
would be generated.

AEBENARE —BRBREENOBRM(CKIDIE - FTABR
RESRE  ZERHERELESENENE  EENRELY
D o

In each coal-fired power station, the most advanced air emissions : WW’MI-,m“w“mm"m,
treatment facilities have been installed, including the employment 4 - ) W

of highly efficient bag filters to reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR de- '
nitration systems to eliminate nitrogen oxides, and limestone-
gypsum flue gas desulfurisation system to curb sulphur dioxide gas.
We have successfully reduced smoke and sulphur by more than
99.9% and 90% respectively. /
FEMEZEROEGLEARLENBEREERE  BiEFS
MM RREERS KBRIEEE - SCRISNCREEWZERA ALY A
RABBEEER — A% - BAEEEMREEE99.9%IA ' - -
o BRIEREIO% LA L o Circulating Fluidised Bed Boilers

BERRCRIBLE

Our effective wet desulfurisation facility further reduced sulphur dioxide emissions to much less than 400 mg/m’ as
required by the “Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants” (GB13223-2011) in China. The Group
has monitored the quality of air emissions on a real-time basis by using online detection equipment to ensure

outperforming the relevant national standard.

AN - AR BER A - E— TR A RN EREERENEZRGB13223-201 1{NERARITH
MR E)BERNEBL S RI0ZERFE - AEEBEBAEREERBESL A NERNEE - BRERS
MBI AR E W IR L -

Among which, the combustion system of No. 1-4 circulating fluidised bed boilers of Guangdong Lee & Man were
optimized and reformed by adopting the LNB technology to reduce the raw emission of nitrogen oxides from boiler
flue gas to 110-130mg/Nm’, so as to lay a solid foundation for the realization of ultra-low emission of nitrogen oxides
from boiler flue gas.

Hp BRIEXM-AR BRI EBICRMIEETRER GBI BCE - SRALNBR - BEREEREALLYRE
HEE110-130mg/Nm’ - BIREERA | B bR IE BEpuT i &5 -

No. 1-2 boilers adopted the PNCR+SNCR combined denitration technology, which effectively improved
the denitration efficiency and achieved the ultra-low emission standard of nitrogen oxides from boiler
flue gas of <50mg/Nm°.

1-25% 3R /E SR A PNCR+SNCRE BEBRRE FL Il - AR LA ALK - # 5
<50mg/Nm? °

|REARD AL BESFEREE
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Sewage Discharge

Water is indispensable in paper production operations. In order to

reduce sewage discharge generated from its production and improve

quality of sewage treatment so as to meet regulatory standards, the

Group has put efforts into the following three aspects:

Management Planning

Established a sound “Guidelines for Sewage Treatment”,
setting out a list of key points for operating and inspecting
sewage treatment facilities, procedures for repair and
maintenance and duties of the relevant responsible teams, to
further improve the performance of facilities and ensure its

output;

Recruited sewage treatment technicians with professional
qualifications and professionals responsible for reviewing the

effectiveness of sewage treatment from auto-monitoring data;

T TR

Sewage treatment station

557K R 3R Uy
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High-tech Treatment Techniques

76

Introduced the most effective sewage treatment techniques
employed by the paper-making industry worldwide, specifically
the combined use of physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation
pre-treatment, anaerobic and aerobic digestion and fenton

technologies to achieve thorough treatment;

Implemented the integrated management of sewage discharge.
Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped with
automatic programmable logic controllers (“PLC"”) and online
surveillance systems to monitor the discharge of sewage;

Strictly followed the monitoring requirements of the standards
for water pollutants. With the use of internationally advanced
sewage treatment techniques and facilities, we have
successfully maintained stability in the volume and quality of
sewage discharge, the level of major pollutants such as CODcr
NH3-N and SS, is in full compliance with the maximum limits
on discharges by pulp and paper-making enterprises under
National Standard “GB3544-2008" (Standard on Discharge of
Water Pollutants by the Pulp and Paper-Making Industry).
According to statistical verification, after multiple treatments,
sewage discharged by the Group’s operations has achieved

more than 99.5% of pollutants removal,

Achieved water re-use by the rate of more than 80% in its
production and water discharge less than 10 m® per tonne of
paper produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been
equipped with water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and

reduce water consumption;

Continuously and efficiently recycled the treated wastewater
for reuse in solid waste washing line, plant cleaning, greening

and irrigation, etc.;

Recycled 6,000 tonnes of reclaimed water for reuse per day
through ultrafiltration, hyperfiltration and other processes to

recycle water in different workshops;

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Enabled a reasonable re-use of sludge and methane generated
in the sewage treatment process. Water content of the sludge
was lowered to around 50% with fully automatic recessed
plate filters and then the dried sludge was burnt at thermal
power stations in order to reduce solid wastes. The methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment systems in the sewage
stations was also collected and used as part of the fuel for the
boilers in the power stations, thus greatly saving the coal
required.

Compliance With Regulatory Standards

Annual inspection on the air emissions and sewage disposal

from boilers and sewage stations by environmental department;

Conduct regular calibration for air emissions and sewage online
monitoring systems;

Conduct repair and maintenance for environmental equipment

on a regular basis to meet the emission standards.

BERWHNAEKEEBIEFTES
HOSRMBR  RAEZAMEE
RAE BB B )5 R B8R KR EE
50% %A WHEBEEBNEISRE
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBEER

Greenhouse gases of the Group are mainly emitted from coal-fred AEBIRZEREHNEZREMEESE -
power generation. The plants have their own thermal power stations, L& & “iﬂﬁiﬁ MEREEERALEE
producing electricity through operating coal-fired generators, which &7 - S EZLEZENRERBHEN

discharge greenhouse gases directly and indirectly.

Emission Data R E R

Major emissions, direct and indirect greenhouse gas resulted from AFEREHBENEEEZHAEENETE
production activities for the Year within the reporting scope are as B - EENKEEEERENT ¢
follows:

Types of Emissions i Data in 2023° Data in 2022°
S B 2023F HiE° 2022 F H B
Nitrogen Oxides (NOX)7 tonnes 2,077.52 1,338.02
AEEHINO,) A
Sulphur Dioxides (SO,)’ tonnes 1,324.39 824.44
—&ALHi(s0,) Mg
Particulate matter (PM)’ tonnes 94.45 78.57
SERL(PM) 72
Hydrocarbon (HCY tonnes 5,740.49 N/A
x| EWHC) ] @A
Sewage tonnes 65,472,073.53 52,031,924.00
HEISK Mg
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Types of Emissions

R

Direct greenhouse gas (Scope 1)°
BEERAERE(HE—)

Indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 2)
MERERE(HBE )

Other indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 3)°

HRZEERE(HE=)®

Intensity of greenhouse gas emission

HEEREBETE

tonnes carbon

dioxide equivalent
WE—friRE 8

tonnes carbon

dioxide equivalent
Wi — L EE

tonnes carbon

dioxide equivalent
W R EE

tonnes carbon dioxide

equivalent/per tonne of

products produced
W — S LIREE
BUEEEEM

Some figures increased significantly as a result of the addition of Malaysia Lee &
Man to the reporting scope this year as well as the various items newly added in
the environmental aspects.

We optimized the data statistics and calculation methods in 2023, thus some
data in 2022 was updated based on the new statistics and calculations.

Emissions were resulted from the Group’s power generation activities that use
fossil fuels.

Scope 1 emissions are the direct greenhouse gas emissions resulted from sources
of greenhouse gas emissions owned and controlled by the Group which are
calculated in accordance with “The Accounting Methods and Reporting
Guidelines of Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Paper-Making and Paper Products
Manufacturing Enterprises (Trial Implementation)” issued by the PRC National
Development and Reform Commission and “How to prepare an ESG report -
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Scope 3 emissions are the indirect greenhouse gas emissions resulted from water
used by the Group which are calculated in accordance with “Greenhouse gas
reporting — Conversion factors 2023" issued by the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy of United Kingdom.

Data in 2022°
2022 &iE°

Data in 2023’
2023 Hig°

5,394,123.78 4,729,594.66
39,660.18 N/A
NER

38,149.18 32,689.48
0.97 1.20

MRS FEREMENIE T FRAEEX - A
FIRBHERM T AEIEE - B HBHEX
8 LTt e

HME 2023 FxE T BER RAEIE
FEUL IR BHT RO ST aT Rt EE# 7 &0 2022
Bk -
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Wastes

The wastes generated in our operations were mainly non-hazardous
ones produced in the course of paper-making, together with a small
guantity of wastes due to routine office work. In order to reduce and
dispose of waste produced in the paper-making process, the Group
has established the “Guidelines for Waste Management” to classify
wastes of all activities and clarify the workflow of processing. Policies
also provide for guidelines for the storage, transport and disposal of
wastes and require them to be recorded to ensure that treatment
process is in compliance with rules and is safe.

The Group has principally disposed of wastes generated from its
paper-making operations in three ways:

o Sewage treatment facilities in plants will filter sewage
generated from the paper-making process. This process would
generate an average of over 10,000 tonnes of sludge. It is then
burnt in boilers after treatment and deep drying. The energy
generated by burning the waste in a circulating fluidised bed
boilers could be reused in the paper-making process and
therefore, not only secondary pollution would be avoided but
also saving energy;

o The Group used lots of waste paper as a raw material in its
paper-making operations, paper-making residue was left
behind after extraction of useful fibres for the paper-making
process. As the residue contained different impurities, the
residue was carried to a washing line where reusable metal
wires and plastics in the residue were collected and sold to
recyclers;

° Established “Directory of Hazardous Wastes”, so as to
segregate hazardous wastes before processing or disposal of
the recyclable.

BEEY
AEEZEMEENBENEIERERBRE
TREANEEERY  TELEARET
BURRFTELMBERY - $HHERBRS
FRELHBERMAM O MEE - AEED
RIUCERMERREE)HAKEMER
BELNBEEWETOR  REHEZER
ERIE - BRMBERVMNFNR &Kk
FEEREM IS S| B RO SR - FEREEIE
BREZEAH -

AEBTEBBAUAT-BEFAREESE
)

o TRRH)SKERIER B IEE R BIE
RATELRISK  FHBAGEL
BEWSRE - 5K RIERRER
KPR ERERE - BREER
TERBERENEYMELENEE
AREREE  TERSEXK R
ERIREE T REIRERE

s AEFHEEMLEBRIETERAKRE
BEEERRE  BAKREREAN
ERGERRTERES - AEH
EEREBSERKRENRBEE
ME mEANEBE > UHHE
YRHE T AT EE

s mMEERERVERLR) HED
BrERERY EMEEXLER

Sludge recycling equipment

EpEEE G
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Case Study: Guangdong Lee & Man — Energy Comprehensive Utilization of Residue Project™®
BARMR  BERIBX —FEBERREESMAER"

The project builds a residue boiler — turbine generator set
that uses residue, waste plastic, sludge and biogas
generated from the paper production line as fuel to
generate steam and electricity for the boiler fuel; it can
reduce 340,000 tonnes of industrial solid waste, generate
108 million kWh of electricity and 550,000 tonnes of
steam in a year, which is equivalent to a reduction of
85,700 tonnes of raw coal and 156,000 tonnes of carbon
dioxide, with obvious environmental and economic
benefits.

TRREFRERE - THREEHRE  EREERE
ERRES - BEER  TREBRAME - REIERE
EEFRANEN  —FARIMEM T XEBRESE
Y- BES1.0818E - EEKASSEM  HERDR
8. 57ENE - A —AALHK15.6 M - RR KL ER

2

0 HERAARKI2ET  BAIERAAERE

commission stage. f o

10 The project has an investment of RMB320 million and is currently in the
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The Group has actively adopted the aforesaid measures of treating S£BEEIRFER FMIEHEIEREEY @ 5K
wastes, striving to meet the standard of processing solid wastes,  1009% i& 5I|¢ & 58 & &5 122 B W) 5 18 17 I 2
liquid wastes and hazardous wastes stipulated in the “Measures of AT B G 35 YR 7 [ B ) 88 T T 28 5 18

Guangdong Province on Implementation of Administrative Licensing | 5 . P
for Controlled Waste Treatment” and the “Measures on the RYERRERAERE R EMEERIT

Management of Hazardous Waste Transfer”. BRIRIRAE o

Major wastes resulting from the Group’s production activities for the AR&EBRANEFEEFRESGENEE T E

Year within the reporting scope are as follows: EHFEEEEYMT
Types of wastes Unit Data in 2023" Data in 2022
BEEYER By 2023F HiE" 20225 B
Non-hazardous wastes
BEEEY
Paper-making residue tonnes 294,774.82 242,025.71
EA RS Mg
Coal ash, cinder tonnes 814,640.65 789,203.69
B~ BB T8
Impurities contained in waste paper raw tonnes 133,251.05 140,116.34
material (including plastics, metal wires) L7
BEERHMEME (B2 - 84S
Sludge tonnes 360,810.50 282,826.47
e 17
Wood chip tonnes 546.11 265.28
AR A 8
Other metal™ tonnes 1,904.68 N/A
Hih 8" A e A
Hazardous wastes"
BEEREY”
Waste batteries tonnes 18.45 29.32
REE) MiE
Used oil, waste paint, waste liquid etc. tonnes 248.71 220.17
FEHOR - R BRE Mg
Used lamps/bulbs tonnes 0.80 1.42
BEREE BB I
Others(paint buckets, plastic buckets etc.)'®  tonnes 482.62 N/A
Hih(nEEmRm - BBRmE)" Mg AN iE A

Some figures increased significantly as a result of the addition of Malaysia Lee & " ARSFERESHEIE T HRADREX - A

Man to the reporting scope this year as well as the various items newly added in FIREESHBEREINT ARER - A5 &E X
the environmental aspects. B

” Waste category newly added this year. 2 SEEFIEEREYES -

" Types of hazardous wastes identified with reference to the “Directory of National ~ '* SERFEARLMERFRELEMO(ER
Hazardous Wastes” issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the EREYREYMEREEEEYRESE -
People’s Republic of China.

" Waste category newly added this year. 1 SELFIEEEYESR -
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USE OF RESOURCES

With sustainable development as the prerequisite, the Group sets
goals for resource consumption to protect environment, to make
rational and scientific use of energy and resources and to reduce
production costs. The Group has formulated the “Guide for Energy-
saving and Control and Management of Resources” to regulate the
use of energy and resources in various activities. The policy specifies
the responsibilities of and division of labour among departments,
whereby departments related to production including the
procurement department, the production department and
departments using maintenance workshops and facilities are required
to control the consumption of energy and resources such as raw
materials, equipment, water, electricity, paper, packaging materials
and so on. Administrative departments including the human
resources department, the administration department, the back-end
department and so on are responsible for carrying out resources-
saving education for all employees of the Group, monitoring,
recording and comparing the monthly usage of energy and resources.
Generally speaking, the Group takes “education as principal and
supplementing with management and control” as the guideline for
resources-saving, and lead employees to implement green
production. The Group has also set targets for coal, electricity and
water usage for the year by achieving 1% reduction in consumption
per unit production of major factories on yearly basis compared with
that of corresponding period in last year and will conduct year-end
review of the amount of resources usage for the year in order to

pursue better environmental performance on an ongoing basis.

BIRER

AEENUAHEERR/NIER  FTUZEE
BIEFERR  BMOARRERE  GEME
WEREERNER - WREEEEMAN o &
SEREHET(HOEREREHEIEEE
EVNRBEFHTRBRRERNEMS -
ZBRG—EE T EHMANBELRS T -
TEMBTMERERERN  £ER - @
BERREEMEPIFO TR RME
wig KB B BRUHFERRE
IREIFER - MITHEFIBEAFE - 7T
B RYBEFUNRTEEHAREEBHET
BHERHE CRCER R E T ARE
BEERNERBR - BEME A%
BUATEEHERT EEEERE IE
REBHDERNEE S FEETER
BREBEE - AKETEAVYAFE
MK B KNEABR  EBXTIEHFE
MEBENEMBRESFERAY EFRALT
1% @ WRFRRHIAFENERER
B FEBRERRRR

BE 5%

oo 77N
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The Group has actively adopted measures for energy conservation

and emissions reduction, striving to curb energy consumption in

each of its production processes. The Group has promoted and

implemented a number of energy saving and consumption reduction

measures so as to achieve win-win outcomes for environmental

protection and economic growth. Apart from ISO50001 energy

management certification, the Group has indeed received

commendations of the Government Examination Team for Energy-

Saving and Emissions Reduction for our saving energy and reducing

consumption efforts which include:

84

Reducing energy consumption by substituting high-
performance equipment for older ones and making relevant

changes to its electricity facilities;

Adopting efficiency-enhancing and energy-saving technologies
such as the full use of frequency conversion and high voltage
compensation devices;

Closely monitoring energy input and output as well as energy
consumption by production and non-production operations
with an effective mechanism for measuring, monitoring,
analysing and appraising energy consumption, and the
corresponding personnel to manage the use of energy. The
Group has installed water and electricity meters in various
regions of the plants and implemented a system of rewards
and punishments;

Departments are required to conduct data analysis and
comparisons on a monthly basis to effectively promote energy
conservation and environmental protection to the whole
Group.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Energy Consumption

The logistics and production processes in our daily operations have
involved the use of great amounts of energy. Diesel and coal have
been the major energy sources we used. Plants in Mainland China
and Vietnam have their own coal-fired generators to ensure
availability of sufficient power necessary for the high power
consuming paper-making machines, and therefore have not

purchased electricity power from the national power grid.

Improving energy efficiency is one of the ways to effectively reduce
energy consumption. To ensure coal quality has met standards, the
Group adopts strict measures on management of coal storage and
transportation. The Group also conducts regular repair and
maintenance on generators to achieve an optimal operation of
generators and efficient combustion of coal and in turn improve
energy efficiency. In addition, the Group has also employed co-
generation technology to turn residual heat from the power
generation process into heat source for use in paper-making, thus
considerably raising the efficiency of energy use and reducing the

consumption of coal.

Additionally, in order to achieve energy-saving and emission
reduction, the Group requires the use of latest technologies in every
segment along the production process. Moreover, the Group has
introduced a number of projects which aimed at lowering energy
consumption, For instance, there was frequency-conversion
modification of high electricity-consuming machines which helped to
achieve better energy saving performance and lowered the
production cost; as well as the energy system optimization and
energy-saving renovation project for the paper-making workshop this
year, which saved approximately 19,650 tonnes of standard coal this
year. Moreover, methane and certain of the solid wastes which were
side products in the sewage treatment process referred in the
“Sewage Discharges” and “Wastes” sections above could be burnt
in boilers in the thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel for the
coal boilers.

BEIRFEE
AEBERREERNERREERENRS
ERERREAEAENEE - AEEEH
WEZEERD B AEHME - AERM R
MEAREYBRMERERAUBRAES
FEMEARERHEENEN WEBAH
EREHAEES

RITBERME R AU RERFEENTTE
Z— o REBRREREREERNFET
FEHBIE  BMRRRMEER  AKHE
MEHRREMEEZEHA  EREER
ERETETT  BOMK - BFERMNA
oo JLHh - ANERE b (E A AVE R E ST
HEENRERERDR - KBRS T
BERAME WA HRFE -

BESN - REBIERERIBEE ) AEE AR
EAEERNAIBIRE AR B RINHEIEIF

R - BFEHETZRERMCEER
BlIanE & B R M B RABCERE IR

2| - SR AN BE R R W ORK R ¢ LA
RESFEEMNERTEBRERRGELE
REMGETRE - NFEHE K 19,650 1R %
BE o e sh - B [5KEER AT RE YD | B8P
DIRBI )5 K R TR B AR R AT EE A O P e K
BoBEBEYE X EAEHREMRE -
HOHENRRERRE -
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The Group has also continued to optimise energy management. It
has raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power generation
process and in the paper-making process and have therefore
successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit year by year.
The Group regularly tracks and records energy consumption. During
the Year, the overall energy consumption per tonne of paper
produced by the Group was less than 0.34 tonne of standard coal,
even lower than the national average which is approximately 0.60
tonne of standard coal comparatively.

Water Usage

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of the
Group’s water consumption. In order to minimise the consumption
of clean water resources, the Group:

o Regarding water source: the Group has upon governmental
approval obtained its water supply by directly taking water
from rivers and then carrying out purification process to satisfy
the industrial water standard. In doing so, we have helped

protect the valuable potable water resources.

REEBTEELERER  REZBIZN
FMEREEBERBRSERNE - 58
MR EEFRFERE - NEBETHEM K
REEREE AFEARN - AEEBLEE
—WE A AR B BEFE D R0 34MEIRELE -+ iR
BN EE WA 40 60812 E K&
2ETFHEE -

IKETRA A
KEEBBRETVRERNER - FitE
ERKBER T AEBEFKENBARID
RFEEEFKERBRE  AEEH

o KREIE: ARBEBMAHTETT
e EBOUK - BB E B KR L&
ERIAE - JAKEERIEF(LRME
TERKEE  FNRRELEN
RAKER
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o As for water saving: the Group encourages recycling and has o EIZAHANKIE : AEBESZEBRE

principally adopted the strategy of employment of advanced A r*EXBABBREE SRX
and highly efficient sewage treatment techniques for reusing MEKEETEBEEERKERE
water in its production. The use of closed circulatory system for A YETTITHERKOHEHABEEZR
industrial water successfully increases the recycled water ratio G EERBERFHBEAKMNL
in production to more than 80%. As a result, the amount of PIFERB80% » KKK T RAKHE
natural water required by the Group has been considerably BH -

lowered.

o In regard to maintenance: to prevent leakage from water o @EEFH @ THEATHBE K

pipelines and to preserve water resources, the Group also B BIRKAE - KEEEE RE MK
checks water pipes and repairs water tanks, water taps and Fi o MEFBKEBENMLEBRLI
other water supply facilities regularly. £ g HKER -

Direct water extraction

from rivers
A BBk Water Paper-making
purification production
BREF EEER
Closed

circulatory system
Reusing water in production
HERRAS
TERKRBRBER
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Use of Packaging Materials BEMEHE R

Some of our paper products required the use of plastic materials for ANEBKRBLBEBEERBLOZFERBRE
packaging so as to prevent products from contamination or damages. FHETTBRE - QB EERIISLEHNEE -
The “Guidelines for Packaging Materials Management” is established A£BEHAEEIDIFEH T T(REYRE
by the manufacturing department for waste reduction purpose EESI)ARBEEY RO S - 23 -
through packaging materials classification, labelling, storage and FHR&EER  BLWRRE - KEEES
usage. Also, simple packaging will continue to be our principle so as #ERAFHOBERA - BROHRENF
to alleviate any environmental impacts. 2o

Energy and Resource Usage Data EREERBEER

Through the above measures, the Group and our employees together ~ BiBIA LHEHE - AEBEHETIELBHE
achieved the objective of resources conservation. This year, energy IR T ERBHHEEZ - REER - AEEH
and resource consumption in respect of production activities within ¥ &8 B R 4 & B T FE M9 A8 R & B R

the reporting scope of the Group were as follows: HEmT:
2023 2022
20235 20224
Intensity Intensity

Energy and resource (per tonne of (per tonne of
consumption i Annual data® production) Annual data production)

BE (R BE (R
ERRERAE FEEH" EREN) FEER EREN)
Types of fuel
REES
Coal tonnes 3,074,342.83 0.5457 2,709,302.52 0.6844
# 7
Diesel litres 4,220,950.65 0.7493 3,918,719.23 0.4494
3 D
Petrol litres 178,846.00 0.0004 108,597.15 0.0274
i NS
Natural gas '0000 m’ 13,602.89 0.0000 N/A N/A
AAR B K TEA TiEH
Utility power kWh 52,322,143.00 9.2657 N/A N/A
e TRE TNEH NiERA
Water resources
KEIR
Water tonnes 100,923,763.51 17.9149  86,480,117.00 21.8446
K U
Packaging materials
aRYH
Plastic materials tonnes 439.51 0.0008 257.51 0.0001
BRER i

Some figures increased significantly as a result of the addition of Malaysia Lee & " ARSFERSHEINIE T HRADE - A
Man to the reporting scope this year as well as the various items newly added in RBREHENNTTREER - A5 HEX
the environmental aspects. B
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The use of the environment and natural resources is closely related to
the climate change. The impact of commercial activities on the
environment and natural resources has always been a great concern
to the Group. As a commitment to reduce the logging of timber and
reduce the impact of human activities on natural environment, we
have been using recycled paper as the materials for paper-making,
the primary business of the Group. In addition to complying with
environmental regulations and international rules on protection for
the natural environment, the Group has also incorporated concepts
of environmental friendliness into our internal management and daily
activities. In our striving to attain environmental sustainability, we
have successfully received I1SO 14001 Certification for Environmental
Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection and
efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential effect of
our business operations on the environment on an ongoing basis and
promoted the green office and the green production environment in
adherence to four principles, namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle”
and “Replace”, in order to minimise the impact of our operations on
the environment.

Noise Treatment

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would cause
rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has implemented the

following measures:

o The Group has chosen to use low noise equipment and
products as far as possible in the course of building the pulp
and paper production lines and the thermal power stations in

order that noises could be lowered at the sources;

BRERKRER

HREBERAARBRNERA S ABERBEZ
BEANE  AEE+HETERETHER
REWTE AEBOETEXBKERIE
BB EE - BARAOMARE - WD A
REBHHERBRENTEELER - BT
BREABRRRERRBEBRER - BYHMR
EEHARRIN  NEENFIRFREOE
SEATAIMERLAFELEETE  WE
FEBTISO 14001 RIBEIERE » B S
EFRBECZIREER

o

AEBEUEBESHRFBRENREUHNAE
BR7E AIRERXGEEHRES
KeyBHEZE  WERRD  ER - DR
R B PO EE AR A - AR B A AR
BEERE HE2EHRENTERER
& -

B E R IE

AR B E 1T RR A A B & A M A A0 R AR 8%
B AMeEERRBNEERAEF
RBEEBRARE - BERIM AEEEE
T

s HEHFEMALERUARARTHNE

EBERERRERAERSMHRER
ES {RERERE
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. In an effort to lower sound pollution to the environment, the
Group has installed sound isolation facilities to contain noises
due to running of machines and has added silencers on noisy

equipment such as blowers and exhaust fans;

o The Group has built soundproof control rooms at the pulp and
paper-making workshops where workers can work in a healthy

environment without being influenced by the big noises;

o The Group has added more vegetation in the factory area to

help dampen the spread of noises apart from purifying the air.

Timber Logging

Among the packaging paper produced by the Group, 98% was
made from recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp.
This was exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect forests
and creatures, and minimise the impact of our operations on the

natural environment.

Though the pulp used in production is derived from timber logging,
the Group has no activity in respect of deriving pulp directly from
timber logging. In order to lower the price of raw materials and
achieve the goal of environmental protection, the Group is committed
to developing production machinery that can produce green
sustainable product by treating tonnes of waste paper as raw
material. In the future, the Group hopes to further raise the
percentage of waste paper being used as raw material and become
one of the containerboard manufacturers with the highest recycling

rate in the world.

.« ZERERBRE - EYRREE
BELHRE  AEK HAEE
RERBERBER RS REH
REBEEHE

e NUMENEMREMENREIE

Sl ERAETAGEBEEAT
e RESREEHYATRER
ye

o ENEmEACEFNEERRE B
BYRISIRE B R - MR CZER

AR

AEEBMEEBRANRE » 98% KA
B EER - RBE2%FAMAREENRA
o BEESRAKREMBRERARMEY - £
HERRBENZERZRE -

AEBYEERKNADRM ZE8 - BEE
PRER AR 2 RER IR 2R - BFEER
MRHERLERRRET  AEERDFH
BRBEUAXEBERIERHMAEERSS - £
ERRBERRNGEEM - KK AKH
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Environmentally Friendly Products

The Group invested in the research and development of
environmentally friendly products maximising the efficiency of
utilisation of wastes and minimising the addition of chemicals such as
brightener and fluorescer. The Group currently produces products
including environmentally friendly test linerboard and environmentally
friendly coated white linerboard in pursuit of becoming a leader of
green products in the industry with an aim to alleviate the
environmental impact caused in the process from producing to using
its products and thus offering more environmentally friendly choices
to its customers.

Starting from the selection of raw material, the Group produces
environmentally friendly test linerboard with 100% use of recycled
waste corrugated board, and uses sorted clean newspaper as the
main component of environmentally friendly coated white linerboard,
turning wastes into treasures.

RIREm

AEBANBAMBRRER » ZFARE
RABMNERARERBEDERR - &)t
B BRI - BB A& ERFRMER
MRIRRZBIIREARAE - WIFEERK
RITENSREBERALE  REEREE
EEFERBRTHRENTEE  AEPR
HEZRFREE -

SENRERMEHEM AT - RRERERE
100% & /3 [ He i R ey BE E R AR AR ¢ BRAR
ZhMREARBRIABRERTERD -
LEERE -

Environmentally friendly product

RREm

Environmentally friendly coated white linerboard

RRBMREQRE

Environmental Awards and Certifications

As described in the sections on environmental protection above, the
Group has been making great endeavours to keep possible pollutions
and negative impacts of our operations on the environment to a
minimum. The Group has received recognitions from government
authorities, professional bodies and many others in the community
including certifications and awards for the investments and efforts
we have made in respect of environmental protection.

Environmentally friendly test linerboard

RIRFEIRAR

RRBIERDE

bR - BB RIIRRER - AKE
BNTMH - TEFE KA EL L P Al BEEK
RIRESAMEETE - ARENRER
ENEARANERMBNRFET ZEK
FEBFIAREXRRBOEE  BAESE
B AR EMBUT IR (R 2R I 22 R
REERRAAR -
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Over the years, certifications and accolades won by the Group have  [lk4) » N&E BB EFTB AR B LRI M

included the following:

The Group/Specific Plants
&M@ HE

T

Certifications/Accolades Obtained
R4

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam

FEIBENMERE kR RE

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam

BB N FTE RS N B R R

All plants of the Group
SEMmAME

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and
Jiangxi plants

G ER - IE  IEEE

All plants in Mainland China and
Vietnam plant

R EIENFTE R E &SRR
Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and
Vietnam plants

i B IH KB EEE
Lee & Man Paper

B

Lee & Man Paper
EBER

Lee & Man Paper
B ER

Hongmei and Huangyong plants
g EERE

Hongmei plant

IR E
Chongging plant

ISO9001 Certification for Quality Management
1S09001 5 & & Hil R &

ISO14001 Certification for Environmental Management
ISO14001 REFEEEBRRAE

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) Certification
RMRE RBEHEE BB (FSC-COQ)

IECQ QC 080000 Certification for Hazardous Substance Process
Management System
IECQQC 080000 EEMEMIEEIE R RE

ISO45001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety Management
System
ISO45001 B ERFELR EERERRE

ISO50001 Certificate for Energy Management System
ISO500018EIRE 12 RATRE

Named a “National Outstanding Enterprise Proactively Fulfilling Social
Responsibility”
2EEGERITHEEERECE

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

BERBREERH (BER)

Named an “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”
RERIFPERE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and an
“Outstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

EREBREECENERESHAITEESFLE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
BT BB R

Named an “Advanced Ecological Improvement and Environmental
Protection Unit”
RERETEEMRE
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Cope with Climate Change

Global warming is notably affecting the natural climate by increasing
the frequency and intensity of extreme weather and natural disasters
such as rainstorm, flood and drought, which greatly aggravated the
damage and impact of various natural disasters. To cope with the
intensified threat of climate change, management of our Group has
regularly assessed the potential risks that may arise from cause
climate change during production and operation and adopted
preventive and contingency measures.

We have strategically selected location for our plants and drawn up
the “Extreme Weather Catastrophes Contingency Plan”. We classify
the extreme weather catastrophes into four degrees, namely very
significant, significant, major and general according to the degree of
harm that may be caused by such risks. Meanwhile, we have
established a clear contingency system and set up the Steering
Committee on Extreme Weather Contingency and Rescue, which
expressly stipulates functions of each member, alert actions and
contingency measures. We arrange publicity, trainings and drills for
employees regularly, aiming at enhancing the vigilance and abilities
towards disasters. We will assess how bad we will be affected by the
extreme weather such as hurricane, rainstorm, thunder, hail and
flood so that we can take relevant safety measures and provide a
safe place for our employees. With these measures, we will safeguard
our employees’ safety and avoid losses arising from the malfunction
of equipment. In addition, our plants have their own thermal power
stations and backup power which are necessary for a continuous and
stable production and can reduce the risk of halt in production due
to regional power blackout.

R {2 e B
EHERBEZEEARR  EFEKK
B - BRE - HKRLZFEFRKNIE
RMBEIRIN - KIEMB T SRR
BERTEREE  R/EHBBHRENRIRE
B ARENEEEEMNGHLEELET
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HIED) R E 21 -

BPIREE M ARE &L - HECRH K
RAZTESER)  HREAR AT LEKK
BERE  BEBRXRLESSOESF
B BHER BN -BAK K- @
B RPARLTBEWMWEERR - KT
im KR ESRIRRE/NE - AXRET
ERERE  AETIMESIER - T
NeRBERRNBETETEE  HFIME
B ReEBEINEBMEIEN R
B ®&W FEF KB HKEERKR
HIREFETE M AR E BT R
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EUWMPLEERWMBR - R - SBWEH
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STRIVING FOR IMPROVEMENTS
Supply Chain Management

As a production enterprise, supply chain management has always
been a critical aspect in our quality control system. The Group works
closely with suppliers to enhance their sense of responsibility, help
them mitigate environmental and social risks and build a green
supply chain. We hope to work together with the supply chain
partners to purchase environmentally friendly products and services
and to fulfill our commitment to environmental protection to the
extent it is practicable and cost-effective. We have established a
“Policy on Procurement and Suppliers Management” to conduct a
comprehensive assessment on suppliers and contractors in
accordance with ISO guidelines in respect of, among others, their
environmental protection policies, occupational safety policies, to
ensure that they meet the requirements of national safety,
environmental protection, laws and regulations, have a certain level
of social responsibility management, reach the quality of the Group’s
production and service, and adhere to the sustainable procurement.
In case of any irregularities, the Group will suspend or terminate the
cooperation relationship with relevant suppliers.

i FEE
HEEEE

ER—FKEELE  HERBEERAIER
SERERFRGETRAMBHNIRAZ
— - REAHEFRETAE  REAHER
B BEPEMABRERGEERR - TE
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Procurement of Raw Materials

The Group uses waste paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material
for paper-making, and the waste paper is supplied from all over the
world including United Kingdom, United States and Canada. Our
Group has arranged sourcing agents of waste paper around the
world to collect waste papers and purchase the specific dedicated
waste papers in person through various channels including recyclers,
supermarkets, local authorities and retailers, so as to ensure the
quality of our products. The raw materials are shipped by our logistics
teams so that the Group can better control the logistics to ensure
efficient transportation time and use of low-carbon mode.

Besides, the Group has been supporting a number of other business
partners in China to source high quality waste paper locally as a way
to develop paper sources as well as to support paper recycling, so as
to improve the green supply chain.

Number of our suppliers is as follows:

Number of suppliers

HEEHAE
Mainland China
B A i
Southeast Asia

R
Europe
B

USA

E351
Hong Kong
i
Others
Hity

1 Suppliers are reclassified this year.

R ERIB
SERABRNKRAREEMRR - BER
HERG RS - MEEH - XBERNE
RE - SEEZHLRHFEARBERE - 8
BEEERADWE - BRATS  #5BUT
MALTEBFELETRERER - L H
EAREBRBEENERER  SAFE
mEEERH - BEMPASENEERBE
® o REREEZEBWHBIEEYRAR -
FEAR = RUE B AHE AR DR

S—FHE FAEEEHSRENEERH
Bl EE ER - WESENTBRER
FARRL R EADKEE - KRER
TEMREBHEENER -

HAEEREBE AT
2023" 2022

2023F" 20224

1,479 2,075

708 338

8 N/ATN 3

4 N/AA 3 FA

2 N/AZ 3 A

8 N/AN 3

° SEEENDBMER o
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Product Responsibility

Product Safety

With customers as our first priority, the Group has always stressed
the importance of fulfilling their requirements with high-quality
products and services. The Group ensures that product information is
made available to customers in a transparent, true and accurate
manner during its sales process. The paper products of the Group are
subject to the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other laws, regulations and standards related to product
safety and quality. Enterprises are required under laws and
regulations to shoulder responsibility for product quality and ensure
that products comply with quality and safety standards. As such, the
Group has established the “Procedures for the Surveillance,
Measuring and Control of Products” to supervise and inspect
incoming raw materials, semi-finished products and finished

products.

EmZE
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As we highly value product safety, we have obtained IECQ QC
080000 certification for the hazardous substance process
management of our four plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong
and Jiangxi. As a proof that our paper products are free of banned
hazardous substances, the certification can boost customers’
confidence in the products of the Group. Meanwhile, the various
plants of the Group have also successfully obtained 1SO9001
certification for their quality management system. We have also
obtained the Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-
COQ) certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the Group has
established a risk assessment team to assess product quality and
safety risks regularly in order to address issues promptly for
protection of the Group’s and customers’ interests. We control our
product quality in the aspects from source, production, finished

AEEB+HERERTSE  HE - IH -
EOR KT 78 YRR AE AR R B P9 RIS IECQ QC
0800008 EWEBEEIERE - LRFE
RAIHATEENRGER TS ERER
BEEVE  BPRENEFHASEER
BIE 0 o REERRE JREVE 71509001 ff
BEHRBENHEMRBEBERANEHRES#
R (FSC-COQ) * BRTAKEEEHNE M
MENERREHEERMO AT FELSE
BEAR o ptoh - REER S T BT/
H THIGEMEEERXEZ2EENR
% LEHARREHEY  REAEERE
FRIFzZ - BRMEERRR - £E - K
o BRBENFAAERDZEIEE

products to after-sale tracking:

01 Source monitoring
01RIRE

The Group requires suppliers to provide inspection
reports on materials, warranty against the use of
hazardous substances, MSDS and so forth. The quality
department also conducts sample checking and batch
inspection in respect of incoming materials to ensure
the compliance with quality requirements. The
purchasing department is responsible for preparing the
list of qualified materials for reference of other
departments.

AEBEERHEHREDHORAKSE  TEAE
EMEREE  FEEMBLER KKK (MSDS)
FER - Brmal ey RrETmie it 8RR
REGENAER - REFEER/HIABDHT
REFEEMEFILE o

02 Production process

02 A EBIZ

The Group adopts automated and computer-monitored
production processes, while the quality department
conducts inspection on semi-finished products and
records results on the logbook of inspection during
production process, before moving on to the next
stage. In case of any inadequacy, the relevant
production staff members will be notified immediately
for rectification.

AEEERBSCERERLER]E - ERILM
B¥mETRE  SREEBERBLE  HE
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03 Inspection of finished products

03 Ak Am e i

The Group conducts inspection of finished products for
physical index and the content of hazardous substances
in accordance with the “Operation Guidelines on the
Inspection of Finished Products”. Regular sample
inspection will also be conducted on the finished paper
products after sale, while waste paper and pulp
samples are sent to testing agencies for the inspection
for hazardous substances.

AEBERE(KBBBIEREEE )R EHK R
YIREENBENESEETRER - ARETEH
HERMKMmAETHERER  WAER - RHER
BARIBEMERARERNR

04 After-sale services

04 & 1% ik 7%

In each of sales territories in China, the Group has
professional after-sale service team to keep close
contact with customers and ensure that their problems,
complaints and opinions are properly addressed and
handled. The Group has drawn up its “Operation
Guidelines on Customer Services”, which explicitly
stipulates the problem handling time and follow-up
process of the after-sales service team, so as to meet
the customer requirements clearly and efficiently.

AEEREASHERRAEXNERRHGEE -
HEFPRFETHE  HARERYE  KF BRY
BSEEMEMERE - AEBERHIRL TCEPR
BIEEEEE) AR EERRGE KA MHEER
ERRMBERIE  AHBH  SRMEREFPE
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The Group takes customers’ feedbacks seriously. If the customer has
any questions about the quality after sale, the Group will arrange the
customer service department and the specialist from sales department
to go to the customer’s site for verification and quality inspection.
The specialist will keep personal and written communication with the
customers in the process. If the products fail to meet the
requirements of the order, the customer service department will
assist to arrange the recall or discount according to the situation after
checking by sales manager. The management of the Group strictly
monitors the quality of our products and performance of our services.
Complaints and product recalls are assessed and reviewed monthly
for understanding the causes and formulating solutions, so as to
optimize the relevant workflow and improve customer satisfaction.
Looking ahead, we will continue to evaluate our business
performance and strive for providing the best quality products to our
customers.

In addition to customer feedback, the Group also actively pays
attention to relevant information from various authorities, such as
the industry conferences of third-party testing agencies and the
update of relevant laws and regulations, and keeps abreast of any
increase and change of restricted hazardous substances, so as to
ensure that the Group can keep up with the latest developments and
assess whether the finished paper meet the environmental
requirements when necessary.
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The percentage of product recalled and data on complaints for the
Year are as follows:

Product data

EmBE

REFA - AEE R E R §I IRk
BB

Weight of product recalls accounted for total sales
EmPREEERIHER
Number of complaint received

EENRFEE

Responsible Marketing

The Group pays great attention to build a good relationship of
mutual trust with customers, presenting the most authentic and
high-quality services and products to customers. Every salesperson
has received professional training. The Group requires that the sales
department strictly follows the “Operation Guidelines on Customer
Services” prepared by the Group to regulate and standardise the
behavior of employees, and ensures that the relevant sales and
publicity materials are in line with the Group’s guidelines. Once any
false and exaggerated advertising means are found, the Group will
impose severe punishment. The sales department also regularly holds
meetings with the employees, and updates products information and
marketing plans, so as to ensure that the employees have a clear
understanding of the products and unify marketing methods.

100

0.034% 0.047%

2,596 2,051
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Intellectual Property Rights

Our Group places high importance on intellectual property protection
and respects the intellectual properties of others as intellectual
property can promote innovation and progress. Our Group has over
553 registered patents and has formed the intellectual property
department to coordinate and supervise the management of our
intellectual property rights. In our daily operation, our employees and
cooperators are required to comply with the regulations relating to
intellectual property and the “Policy of Intellectual Property” and the
“Risk Aversion Plan for Intellectual Property” prepared by the Group,
and access to and transfer of core information within the Group is
subject to clear limits of authority which are only limited to specific
members of the senior management of the Group to avoid excessive
information transfer and reduce the risk of data leakage. The Group
will enter into technical contracts with third parties to safeguard the

interests of technological achievements of both sides.

Data Privacy

The Group is well aware that personal information is governed under
the “General Code on Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other relevant laws and regulations, which require that
enterprises shall maintain the right of use of personal information. As
a result, the Group has formulated the confidential management
policy and taken data protection measures necessary for protecting
the interests of all stakeholders. We ensure that employees only have
access to the operational data within their permission sets. We would
not allow disclosure of information unauthorised by the information
owner except otherwise required by law. During the year, the Group
formulated the “Guidelines for the Management of Personal
Information Protection”, specifying relevant management duties and
requiring the Information Technology Department to be responsible
for the security of the facial recognition data collected and the
management of relevant technical and protective measures, proper
maintenance of the database, regular troubleshooting for hidden
risk, prevention of employees’ facial recognition data form leakage,
being faked or loss, and strict safeguarding the personal data of
employees in accordance with the law. The Group reserves the right
to hold relevant persons accountable in case of the occurrence of the
abovementioned issues such as leakage.
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In addition, the Group continues to improve and maintain its
information technology system, including setting up a network
firewall to prevent external attacks or threats intruding into the
Group's systems and applications, as well as strengthening the
protection of internal data to prohibit external devices from
connecting to the Group's intranet, etc. We conduct data backup on
a regular basis to ensure we can still effectively recover our system
data and maintain normal operation in case of unforeseen events

such as natural disasters or power outages.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a material breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and

regulations related to product and service quality.

CONTRIBUTING TO SOCIETY

The Group actively assumes its corporate social responsibility as one
of the Top 200 Companies in the PRC and one of the top ten paper
manufacturing companies in the world. While continuously achieving
self-development over the past years, it has also made good use of
its corporate resources to support the community. We have made
huge investments in building an environmental protection business
and are keen on public welfare issues, which have earned us

numerous awards in public welfare.

Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is the founder of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited and is known as the “King of Paper
Manufacturing”. Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is a dedicated
philanthropist and made donations to schools in Hainan, Guangdong,
Beijing, Guizhou, Hunan and etc. and provided subsidies for domestic
charities. He has been praised by the community and has been
awarded the China Charity Award by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of
the People’s Republic of China and the title of “Red Son Model” by

the Hainan Provincial Government.
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Community Investment

Lee & Man Paper has been walking with the Community for a long
time. During the Year, we actively contributed to the fight against
the pandemic by making donations and giving supplies to the
community. During the Year, we also continued to contribute to the
community through environmental conservation, support for the
underprivileged and youth development, in order to make progress
together with the public. Through fulfilling our corporate social
responsibility and increasing our philanthropic investment, the Group
hopes to create a better future by improving the ecological
environment, helping the underprivileged and promoting the physical

and mental development of our youth.

In 2023, our total community contribution was HK$287,809 (2022"":
HK$4,254,349) and the time spent on the activities related to

community contribution was 80 hours.

Contributing to Society

The Group has collaborated with the Environmental Protection
Administration of Yongchuan District of Chongging for the “Daluxi
River Regulation Project”. In recent years, the rapid social and
economic development in Yongchuan District and the development
of towns along the Daluxi River and the industrial development have
resulted in the discharge of a large amount of industrial sewage and
untreated domestic sewage. Coupled with the water interception by
upstream hydropower stations, the water quality of Daluxi River has
deteriorated. River water treatment helps to optimise water quality,
conserve the natural environment and foster an ecological concept in
the community, while taking into account economic development

and environmental protection.

v Most of the contribution in 2022 was to combat the pandemic.
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Furthermore, Vietnam Lee & Man actively promotes the concept of  F4h -

MR EGRESEERE O

“caring for the environment and returning to nature”. In order to S BEA B S » AEEAHELENBER
promote sustainable development and circular economy, it has & EEZ - TFEKEK T 2EKETIE
organised a number of green projects in recent years, including but ~ BIEEI TR :

not limited to:

o establishing an ecological lake for flower-planting and fish- e
farming model, to improve water quality of drainage from
production activities after the treatment, and to boost
biodiversity. Such area has now attracted some wildlife and
migratory birds.

o building small wetland, utilising processed drainage, growing e
different kinds of aquatic plants, to improve water quality and
increase the overall volume of greenery, which will help to
improve air quality and achieve carbon neutrality within the
plants.

o reclaiming grassland, planting trees and flowers, and setting up o
a green belt with around 3,000 flowers and 100,000 saplings.
Automatic sprinkler systems have been installed in all green
belt areas to utilise the rich nutrients in the ecological lake
water storage which can directly fertilize plants, so as to reduce

total drainage and chemical fertiliser consumption.

o planning a dormitory area with more than 10,000 square e
metres as employees farm, for employees to plant vegetables,
flowers and fruits such as mango and jackfruit. Such activity is
well received and welcomed by employees, demonstrating the

Group and its employees’ care for the environment.
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In 2023, our philanthropic and poverty alleviation initiatives also 720234 * BfIME LB R KB EE

included: BEE B TERR

January Malaysia Lee & Man donated RM10,000 to the Hindu Temple Sri Shivadurayam Manmounivaswara
Thirukovil Devotees Association (ENE BT 2% R # L S BERTRAREREREERS).

1A BREBENBESTI1&ETRNERNTEFRABELEBERTRNRENEREERS

April Malaysia Lee & Man donated RM5,000 to build an auditorium at Tengku Aman Rahimah
Religious High School (T 4P 25 % 35 & A& = H £2).

47 BRBNEBESES000tiA T HMENABSRARATBEERE -

April Malaysia Lee & Man donated RM7,500 to a welfare organization in Kuala Langat for festival
celebration.

47 BRIBNBESE7,500tia MA S ERFMEENGE L -

June Chongging Lee & Man donated RMB50,000 in cash to the Yongchuan Office of Chongging
Welfare Foundation for Physically and Mentally Challenged to help the disabled in need.

6A EFREXMEETERAABANESEK/INERBEARKSE LR - AREPHRHER
AL o

June Malaysia Lee & Man donated RM7,500 to a welfare organization in Kuala Langat for festival
celebration.

6 A BRIBNHBESE7,500ti MA S ERFMEENGE L -

BOERAR AT 2023 £ 105



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

Youth Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education and youth development. The Group has frequently
sponsored the building of a number of education facilities, including
the Li Qiang Academy of Jiaji Secondary School in Qionghai City,
Hainan Province, which was built in 2003 with funds donated by Dr.
Lee Man Chun Raymond, and the Patrick Lee Wan Keung Academic
Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong, whose construction was
funded by the donations of Mr. Lee Man Bun in 2011. In addition,
the Lee Wan Keung Scholarship was also established, demonstrating

the zeal of our founders for corporate social responsibility.

BFER
REBENEINRALTHEBDHENS O FEE
MEXETESRND  BZRFEEEZA
HERM  BIEE2003FmEEIEL
BEABENEHEABEIMRRERETRE
BR20MNFHFBREEREDENS
BEEAZTERYBRNE UK IFE
BREBE  ROBT T AEEZAIHAD
HEEMSFEHEM -

The Group is also sincerely concerned about, and takes the lead to

cultivate, the youth to become future pillars of society.
Mr. Lee Man Bun donated HK$400,000 to The International Centre
Of Sakyamunis Culture to promote cultural education and social
work to make a contribution and commitment to social affairs and
public services. Additionally, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond has also
donated HK$2.5 million to the Hong Kong Federation of Trade
Unions Workers" Medical Clinics to fund a program for orthopedic
surgeries for members of the community.
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In terms of the education for school-age children, the Group donated
RMB7.53 million to Yunnan Nujiang Zhou School for buying books
and sponsored HK$1 million to Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ and
Exporters’ Association Charity Foundation Limited for funding the
“Reading Together” activity. The Group hopes that the children can
develop habits of reading and exploring and can cultivate rich
imagination and creativity by feeling the power of words.

During the year, Vietnam Lee & Man was engaged in a wide scope of
social welfare activities and actively supported a number of charity
projects in Hau Giang Province. Vietnam Lee & Man donated a total
of RMB33,993 to Mui Nhon Township Committee, Hau Giang
Provincial Industrial Zone Management Office, Hau Giang Provincial
Police Department and Hau Giang Provincial Newspaper. The
donation were used to send 2023 Spring Festival gifts to needy
families in Hau Giang Province. In addition, Vietnam Lee & Man also
donated RMB5,891 to the Economic Security Division for Police of
Hung Giang Province to help mothers of heroes in Vietnam to repair
their houses, and donated RMB9,047 to Mui Nhon People’s
Committee to support local needy families in purchasing health
insurance. With the start of the new school year of 2023-2024,
Vietnam Lee & Man has kept in mind the importance of education by
donating RMB15,115 to Mui Nhon People’s Committee, Zhoucheng
District Police Department and Hau Giang Provincial Newspaper,
aiming to provide needy students with scholarships and bicycles to
encourage their pursuit of studies. Meanwhile, in order to support
the Hau Giang Provincial Crime Prevention Fund, Vietnam Lee & Man
also donated RMB5,961 to the Hau Giang Provincial Police
Department. In addition, Vietnam Lee & Man donated RMB59,189 to
the People’s Committee of Vo Quang County on the eve of the
Spring Festival, offering needy families in Ha Tinh Province
condolence gifts for the 2024 Spring Festival. Jiangsu Lee & Man also
donated RMB50,000 to Changshu Charity Association for charity
activities, demonstrating the company’s deep understanding of and
continuous commitment to social responsibility.
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HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EBARXGIORE - L8 RERRK
GOVERNANCE REPORT GUIDE INDEX EECEIDEE]
General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPls Description in this Report
—REER REE
BREREER i HEEH
A Environmental
A BRIR
A1 Emissions
Al BERHD
General Disclosure In relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into | Emissions
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
— R EE ERERIOREREBEW MRS  BERE | HI8Y
EEEVHEEEH
(@ BER: K&
(b) BTFHETABEAZENEBERELR -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
A1.1 P iE R MR BE P ER - B
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy’s indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
A1.2 BEE(SHE) REREE(BE2)HFHRERBHRE (A | B
WEE)M(WER)RE(MAEBEEEN - BERMER
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General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—BREER KR E

BAREEMIEEZ i TR EE

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

A1.3 FEAEEEEYAS (ABTE) R(ER) BE (WA | SR
BESEMN  BERMEIHE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

Al4 FrEEmEHRYS R QAR E) ROLER) ZE (WA |
SESERN  SERHHH) o

A1.5 Description of emission targets established and steps taken to | Emissions

achieve them.

A15 RAPIAT I MEFRE B ER REDE LB EMRROTR o | BERY
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Emissions

handled, and description of waste reduction targets established
and steps taken to achieve them.

A1.6 MR B ENBEEEEYN L - KW I ARRE | BERY)
BRERREIELBFMRMNLR -

A2 Use of Resources

A2 EREA

General Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, water | Use of Resources

Disclosure and other raw materials.

—MRIKEE BRERAER(BFER - KEREARME)BBUR - BIRER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Use of Resources
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

A2.1 RENESHERER RHEEER(NE Kgoh) LFEE | BRER
(ATETEEAZE)RBE(WMASEEEMN - SRR
#)-
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R -HEaRER

HE(FE)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AERE

BERERIER it HEEH

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Use of Resources
production volume, per facility).

A2.2 BFEKENEE (WMASGESEN - BERETE) - BIRER

A2.3 Description of energy efficiency targets established and steps | Use of Resources
taken to achieve them.

A2.3 R FrET LR RE AR E B R R REDE LB RMEN | BRER
BB

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources
is fit for purpose, and water efficiency targets established and
steps taken to achieve them.

A2.4 it SREGE R KR ST B EM R - ARPAEISZE KR | BERER
wm B R R AEDE L B R EREE P8R -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | Use of Resources
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A2.5 A mAAREMHNRE (UEAE) R(WER)BLEE | BRER

BAKE -

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BRERXARER

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

Environment and
Natural Resources

—BRE WIRBTAHRERRAERERERZENBE - RIERAAER
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Environment and
environment and natural resources and the action taken to Natural Resources
manage them.
A3.1 M EBEHHRRERRAERNEAZENEEKIRER | REKRAER
BATENTH o
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RE #HERERKRE (H)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

EHFHLEE HEREN  ILIEKE - B FTS#
& Zult  REBUAREMEEREND

—

a) BXE &

(b) ETHETABEAZENHREAERLROIINER -

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AERE

BERERIER it HEEH

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIR%1

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | Cope with Climate
related issues which impacted, and those which may impact, | Change
the issuer.

— R R BRI EHECRAIEGHETAEETLENERARIKE | RIS CEL
HEEREGR o

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues that have | Cope with Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Change
actions taken to manage them.

A4.1 MAERLAREHBETAEELATENERARGHRBES | RIS LEY
B REHTH -

B Society

B #E®

B1 Employment

B1 {Ef%

General Disclosure In relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and | Employment
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.
— PRI B TRR

BGERARAT 2023 F3
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R -HEaRER

HE(FE)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AERE

BERERIER it HEEH

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (full-time or part- | Employment
time), age group and geographical region.

B1.1 IR EEEE(NEBERE)  FREMN RS | BTHEE
B E BB -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employment
region.

B1.2 RIER - FRRARN KRB DHEERKLLE - BTRAR

B2 @ERZZR

B2 Health and Safety

General Disclosure

In relation to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Health and Safety

—RRWEE FHRREZ2THERERREREEHEBELEEN - REEZE
(a) BUR: &k
(b) BFHETAGTEAZENHBERNROINER -

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past | Health and Safety
three years (including reporting year).

B2.1 BE=ZF(BHRERFE)SFAITHOHABMLLE - REEZ 2

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

B2.2 AIGHEAIERS - fREREZ S

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B2.3 PR B ERERET 2 ARBEBRTRER | @FREZSE
FE e
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AERE
BERERIER it HEEH

B3 Training and development

B3 HELHII

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Training and

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

Development

—MRIKEE FRRAEERIT TEBRBENMBLRENER - fillF | HIRER
FEE o

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Training and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management, etc.). | Development

B3.1 BUFIREER(NSRERE TREEES)EHH | HIILER
XiMEEBDL °

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Training and
and employee category. Development

B3.2 rMRIREERRE D  BREETKIINFIIRE - B R R

B4 Labour Standards

B4 H TR

General Disclosure

In relation to prevent child or forced labour:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Labour Standards

—MRIREE BN IEETHREISTH : 85 TR
(@) B%E: &
(b) BEFHBEITAEBEAZENHBEZRROINEER -

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards
avoid child or forced labour.

B4.1 T BB NEEABRET REH ST - T g

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non-compliance | Labour Standards
practices when discovered.

B4.2 IR ERBARER A RIBEPTERIRE B S ITAER|

BGERARAT 2023 F3
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AERE

BERERIER it HEEH

B5 Supply Chain Management

BS HEEER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Supply Chain
supply chain. Management

—MRIREE EIRMEENIRE Rt RARBUR HresEEIR

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

Management

BS.1 wiE e D EEEE - HEEEE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.2 Ml EEERHEENEY  mERTERENNHER | fEEER
A URBBRITRERTE -

B5.3 Description of practices relating to identify environmental and | Supply Chain
social risks at every stage of the supply chain, and how they are | Management
implemented and monitored.

B5.3 M ERAHBHEESEARSNRERCERARNEDN - | HEEEE
AR MBI TT R BDRITTOE -

B5.4 Description of practices that promote the use of | Supply Chain
environmentally friendly products and services when selecting | Management
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.4 R EBREHERRRE S ARERERMRGHED - A | HEEER
NABBRIT RERTTE -
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BRIE-HE8RER

HE(E)

General Disclosures
and KPlIs

—BREER
REANER

Description

R

Relevant Information
in this Report

KR E

TR EE

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EREME

General Disclosure

In relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters associated with products and services provided
and methods of redress:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Product Responsibility,
Responsible Marketing,

Data Privacy

—REE FAMRHEMNBRENRERELZS  BS  RERILE mEfE - AT
SHNARBRTED - BRMRE
(a) BE: R
(b) BIFHETAGBEAZENHBERNRIINER -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Product Responsibility
for safety and health reasons.

B6.1 EEXCELEMBEHTAR2EREEAMARKNE | EmEE
oL e

B6.2 Number of product and service-related complaints received and | Product Responsibility
how they are dealt with.

B6.2 EEARNERMRENVIRFEHE AREE L - EmEE

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights. Rights

B6.3 s g ERRENBERGANED - R

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | Product Responsibility

B6.4 it @E R IRIE REMBWIRR - EmEf

BGERARAT 2023 F3
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General Disclosures Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AERE
BERERIER it HEEH
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Privacy
and how they are implemented and monitored.
B6.5 MU BEERRERLBERE  WEREBERITRERS | ERHRE
& o

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 KRES

General Disclosure

In relation to prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering:

(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer.

Anti-corruption

—MRIRE B I-EE 9% - MFFREREN RES
(a) BR: Rk
(b) ETFTHBETABERZENHEBERNLROINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 REZRPAHBETAXEEEREV D EEANETHAR | RES
BB MFAGER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing | Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B7.2 b &AL RRER - URBBRITRERAE - k&5
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AERE

BERERIER it HEEH

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training for directors and | Anti-corruption
employees.

B7.3 fimESE R ETRHOREITH - R&S

B8 Community Investment

B8 HERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take communities’ interests into consideration.

Community investment

—RRE BRANEL2ERTHREEMTCARFTENBREIERE | HRE
BeERdRMNEBE

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

BS.1 HEIEREBE(HE  BEFE SBIFK BE - X | HE8KRE
£ 8F)-

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment

BS.2 EEISHBEMBHAER(WEEXEMH) - HEKRE

BGERAER AT 2023 £
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 53, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company, is in charge of
corporate planning and investment projects. He has over 30 years of
operational experience in paper manufacturing and is experienced in
professional formula of paper making and product development. He
was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws in 2014 and
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science from the University of
British Columbia in Canada. He was awarded the “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 2002" and received an award for “2003 Hong
Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. He is
the brother of Mr. Lee Man Bun, an Executive Director of the
Company and Chief Executive Officer of the Group and is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the
Company. The younger brother of his grandfather is the grandfather
of Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 43, MH JP, Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, quality improvement, repair and maintenance of
production machines and staff management etc.. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015” and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company. The
younger brother of his grandfather is the grandfather of Mr. Lee Jude
Ho Chung, an Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEheREEE/N (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 48, a member of the Chongging CPPCC
Committee, Executive Vice President of the HK Chongging Friendship
Federation plus the Chairman of its Economic and Trade Committee,
an Executive Committee Member of The Canadian Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong and an Executive Director of the Company, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper, logistics
planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs for the Group.
He also leads the global export team which focus on international
marketing and sales. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from
University of British Columbia in Canada. He has over 23 years of
experience in production management, operations and technological
research and development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man
Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive

Directors of the Company.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 53, is the General Manager of the Group,
is responsible for investment management of new projects, merger
and acquisition, cost controlling, accounting and taxation
management, corporate management and energy saving projects. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Open
University of Hong Kong and is an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 30 years of
experience in auditing & accounting and corporate financial

management.

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung, aged 49, is the Deputy General Manager
of the Group responsible for the administration, information
technology, electricity generation and environmental, social and
governance related management of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Applied Science & Engineering from University of Toronto
in Canada and has over 23 years of experience in IT supervision and
16 years of senior management experience from different
multinational companies. His grandfather is the younger brother of
the grandfather of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man

Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David (“Mr. Chau”), aged 60, an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, has over 31
years of experience in corporate finance and was formerly a partner
of one of the big four accounting firms, Mr. Chau was a key member
who found their corporate finance division and held the position as
their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr.
Chau is @ member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate
Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and was
an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr.
Chau is a senior fellow and a director of the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute; and he is a member of Corporate
Committee and was the ex-chairman of China and Corporate
Committee. Mr. Chau is the member of Pamela Youde Nethersole
Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH") Fund Raising Committee, PYNEH
Charitable Trust and also ex-member of the Hospital Governing
Committee.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director and
audit committee chairman of OSL Group Limited (formerly known as
BC Technology Group Limited), China Ruyi Holdings Limited,
Productive Technologies Company Limited, Man Wah Holdings
Limited, China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited and
China Evergrande Group (under liquidation process). All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEheREEE/N (F)

Ms. Lo Wing Sze (“Ms. Lo"), aged 52, BBS JP, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has over 25 years of experience
in corporate finance and hotel management.

Ms. Lo holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree from the University of
Sydney and a Master of Commerce in Finance Degree from the
University of New South Wales in Australia. She is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of CPA Australia. She is the financial director of Million Tour
Limited and the founder and financial director of M1 Hotel Group.

Ms. Lo is a member of the Election Committee 2021 (The Fourth
Sector) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR")
and All-China Women's Federation HKSAR delegate and was a
member of the Election Committee for the Fifth Government of the
HKSAR (Tourism Subsector). Ms. Lo is a member of the Chief
Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group, the Social Workers Registration
Board, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
Former Chief Executives and Politically Appointed Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Admission of Quality Migrants and
Professionals, the Immigration Department Users’ Committee, the
Correctional Services Children’s Education Trust Investment Advisory
Board and the District Fire Safety Committee (Wan Chai District). She
is also an Honorary Court Member of the Lingnan University. Ms. Lo is
the Chairlady of Tai Hang Five Dragon Heritage Centre (Revitalising
Historic Buildings Through Partnership Scheme Batch IV).

Ms. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited, New World Development
Company Limited, Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (formerly
known as CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment Company Limited)
and Goldlion Holdings Limited. Ms. Lo was an independent non-
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
from August 2020 to July 2023. All the aforesaid companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZIRSREEEEN (F)

Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald ("Mr. Chan") , aged 43, an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, has over 20 years of
experience in corporate finance and investment consultation.

Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in finance and
accounting from the Leonard N. Stern School of Business at New
York University in the United States in May 2002. Mr. Chan founded
Chartwell Capital Limited, an investment management company, in
October 2007 and is currently the chief investment officer. He has
been its responsible officer for Type 4 (advising on securities) and
Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO since
November 2008 and February 2008, respectively.

From July 2016 to July 2022, he served as a member of the Listing
Committee of the Main Board and GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr Chan has been appointed as a member to
the Board of Directors of the Hong Kong Financial Services
Development Council for a term of two years with effect from 17
January 2024. Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive
director of Powerlong Commercial Management Holdings Limited
and Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited. All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZTRSHREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Law Kit Yu, aged 42, is the Financial Controller of the Group
and the Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for the
internal supervision, management of the Group’s financial matters
and investor relationship. She is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and has over 16 years of
experience in providing auditing, accounting and financial
management. She has extensive experience in participating in various
audit assignments for both Hong Kong listed companies and multi-

national companies. She joined the Group in April 2021.

Mr. Wong Chi Chung Alex, aged 48, is the General Manager of
South-West China, is responsible for the daily operation and
management of Chongging Lee & Man Tissue and Chongging Lee &
Man Pulp. He holds a Bachelor degree in Computer Science from
University of California, Riverside in United States and has over 13
years of experience in purchasing and administration. He joined the
Group in August 2012.

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 48, is the Project Director, responsible
for the pulp and tissue project of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a
Bachelor's Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering
from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 21 years of
experience in engineering safety aspects management. He joined the
Group in October 2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 59, is the General Manager of Vietnam
Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Vietnam plant operation and
management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production and
Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 30 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 62, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group's finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 39 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
W&

g

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries, an associate and a joint venture
are set out in notes 43, 21 and 22 respectively to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 146.

A final dividend for 2022 of HK3.3 cents per share amounting to
HK$142,216,000 and an interim dividend for 2023 of HK2.5 cents
per share amounting to HK$107,739,000 in aggregate was paid to
the shareholders during the year. The directors of the Company now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK6.1 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the shareholders on the
register of members on 21 May 2024, amounting to approximately
HK$262 million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$7,344,636,000 (2022:
HK$5,875,491,000), representing the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of the annual
report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%Eﬁiﬁi (n;

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$4,472 million (2022: HK$5,968
million) for the purpose of expanding its business. An amount of
HK$33,461,000 (2022: HK$6,597,000) was transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties for
generating rental income during the year ended 31 December 2023.
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 to 11 and pages 12 to 15 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman'’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement its
strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the relevant
markets. The management of the Group will continue to make
efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage of capital
fund in order to maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the
paper industry.

In addition, the on-going US-China trade friction and weak
downstream demand might past uncertainty to the Group's
business performance, details of the uncertainty are set out in
the Chairman’s statement to the annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTinuED)
5. Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to
mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 36 to the

consolidated financial statements.

6. Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 39 to 117 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps throughout the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Group’s relationships with employees is included
in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 12 to 15.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sas jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung

Mr. Yip Heong Kan

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gawm G8s Jp
(retired on 9 May 2023)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 88s Jp

(appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald (appointed on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony (resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Peter A. Davies (resigned on 2 August 2023)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee
Man Bun, Ms. Lo Wing Sze and Mr. Chan Wai Yan Ronald retire and,
being eligible, Mr. Lee Man Bun, Ms. Lo Wing Sze and Mr. Chan Wai
Yan Ronald offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing from 1
April 2023, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Each of Mr. Lee Jude Ho Chung and Mr. Yip Heong Kan has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for initial period of three
years commencing from 1 July 2021, which will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party by three months' prior
written notice.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
is the period up to his retirement as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation

(other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”), the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has certain loan facility agreements where it would
constitute an event of default if any one or all of Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun (together
the “Controlling Shareholders”), the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company, ceases to legally and beneficially own, directly or indirectly,
in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued share capital of and
equity interest in the Company or do not, or cease to, exercise
management control over the Company. Upon the occurrence of any
of the above events, the outstanding liability under the loan facilities

will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS ESREZRTERAERKRAHE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BRSFTHEENEZR AR
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the directors and the chief 720235612 H31H » EEREZTHA
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and B M{%F 2B 8 A T EAN R R R EMEE

debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as Bkt - HEARMD RESFF - AR
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to A RRIFEFEHF ME GG ([EFHEHE
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as &% 1) #3527 & 2 a0 M FTac 8k 2 #
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code % @ SkEHE AR A MRE EHEHTAE
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock — FETTE 75X 5 HIRLE ST BIE F & B 52 P

Exchange were as follows: BREmET
Long positions )
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company AQR)EFK0.0258 L2 EimAk
Percentage of
the issued
share capital
Number of of the Company
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {52 QTR E T
EEpE 54 HBERHE RAB L
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.54%
FX&AEL BHEAA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 1,303,391,040 30.25%
FXOR L EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 4,564,865 0.11%
PRERE HAECEHE
Debenture of the Company ENNGCIEE
Principal
Name of director Capacity Type of debenture amount held
EEpE 54 BEFEE FELELE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner US$300 million 5.50% US$2,000,000
BB L BEnlEaE A senior perpetual capital securities  2,000,0003 7t

(the “Securities”)
3008 &37T5.50% .2
BRXEEAFS(FEH]D

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or B = X Fr# TEE 4N - W 20234 12 A 31

their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, H @ S%&%H FETHRABREENHE

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its A 1 #f5 ZX A &) 3k H (7] 48 B 5 ) 19 A%

associated corporations as at 31 December 2023. - RN ESED  EHEAEREK
KA o
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2023, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 2L H

ARE - BREBRAR - KEEAKER
CACES =P TEAEWEHMF‘EHEM%/,\
FIMAEAI L HE - MEARREFAIEREA
ARBHAEAEMEABRZ RO RES
(BRIEERER) MER -

FTERR

BIEARRNBIEEFFRBPEGHE3361KA

FEZEFEREELMATREE mmB

F12A318 TIHBRR(EERETETHR

A%iﬁ%?l\)axuﬁ$@ﬂ?&%ﬁé$ﬂma
BT AR A 2 ARERERS

#a
RABEHR0.0258 T2 Bl

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BECRT (hAEARSERIT
R & 514 TEREAE BABDL
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Held by spouse (note i) 1,303,391,040 30.25%
fAllERE Lt mAEEEEE (M)
Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner and 475,346,920 11.03%
ZiERE L held by spouse (note ii)
EnEB AR
BB REE (FiEi)
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Beneficial owner and 475,346,920 11.03%
TEEBRT T held by spouse (note ii)
EnfBAR
mELEREE (FiEi)

notes: B 5 -
(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Ho Tsz Wan is deemed to be interested in 1,303,391,040 (i) BEEHLBEGKD  BRWIEBZ L

ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Bun. REXEEED @E [ ‘ﬁﬁ( %Bi RAEREAZ

1,303,391,0400% % A AV HERS ©

(ii) Under the SFO, Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick directly held 465,346,920 shares and (i) BREEFRPEKD  TERFITEERSS

Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen directly held 10,000,000 shares, Ms. Lee Wong Wai 465,346,920 kR REZERB L TEEF

Kuen is the spouse of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick. Both held and are deemed to 10,000,000 figth - MEFEEBRBL L=

be interested in 475,346,920 shares. TERBEINES MARBIHGEAES

475,346,920/% & {5 &Y 2x o

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified [ Fal#iE & - KR A EEMNE R

of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 38 of this

Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in note 42
of the Annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and the report of the auditor and
have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms or better and in accordance with the terms of
agreement governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the disclosure on connected transactions for the year are
set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” AND THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER'S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company or an entity connected with such director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

Save as disclosed in the annual report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance (including contract of significance for
provision of services to the Group) to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was also a party, subsisted

during or at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BEXS (&)
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BETRANBRERTRERSBERS -

EENERBRRRRZ - 28K
BEREHNPZER
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EZERE (&)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales. In
2023, the largest supplier accounted for 4.2% (2022: 7.1%) of the

Group's purchase of raw materials.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2023 and as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s

securities.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE BE - HERBRART LHES
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an aggregate of 757,000 MR & £2023F 12 A31HIEFE © &
ordinary shares of the Company were repurchased at an aggregate £ 757,000 fix X 22 7] & i@ ik A 8 X (B
consideration of HK$1,547,000. 1,547,000 CigE -

Aggregate

Number of consideration

shares Highest price Lowest price paid (including

Month of repurchases repurchased paid per share paid per share expenses)
iy Sl Sl

Bo BE & R RE

BEAH ROEHAE BRE® BRE® (EEB)BE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000

BT BT FTHER

December 2023 757,000 2.04 2.02 1,547

2023F 12 A

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Issuer repurchased in the & ZE2023F 12 A31HILFEE » BT A
open market and redeemed the Securities and cancelled pursuant to /2 B 77 45 [B] 8 1 B8 [6] 25 % 30 1R 15 55 5 1)
the terms and conditions of the Securities as follows: AEE T -

i

A
fiz

Aggregate principal
amount of Securities

repurchased

| EBE

Date of repurchases BOAH EHEA B
us$

E

9 June 2023 2023F6H9H 500,000
9 August 2023 202398 H9H 900,000
29 August 2023 2023F8H29H 900,000
8 September 2023 202399 H8H 6,130,000
15 September 2023 2023499 H15H 5,000,000
19 September 2023 2023F9H19H 200,000
11 October 2023 2023F10A11H 10,200,000
1 November 2023 2023F11A1H 2,000,000
2 November 2023 202311428 300,000
17 November 2023 2023F11 3178 1,350,000
27,480,000

US$213,100,000 (approximately of HK$1,641,084,000) in aggregate 70202312 A31H » R T EHF A B H
principal amount of the Securities remain outstanding as at 31 /4213,100,000% 7L (471,641,084,000/%
December 2023. L) °
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EZERE (&)

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits

including insurance, medical cover are also provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has
taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$5,199,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

8 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % LA ¥

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF

LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its member’s liability is
limited)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 146 to 272,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
BARETSEE

B ETEE

RREF ERTHEBRBEATOHEE AL
RBRUAPGAEVBRERNEARRER
MEHE - ELEHREEATENERBES
BRI NREABRRETRIEN 1T
TeHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FATIMIGRIERIR BT R

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEW B 5 Rt .2 BB T 18

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgment and management estimates in evaluating the
expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.
RITHANEWE SRR ZBETHRAEREFFEEIRWE S
EREERGEMBRARZEZUERNBENRAEE ZE
WE SRR EREEER([RAEEBERDFHIREEHH
B R E R B 3 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$4,209,151,000, which represented
approximately 8% of total assets of the Group.
202312 A31H - SEEKRESRERRFEA XY
4,209,151,0008 7T * EEEEEELI8% °

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
ROIRHEREZEZERFIRETENTRER
75

o Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables has been
estimated by management and the
approval procedures for recognising
the impairment loss on trade
receivables;

e HERMEBEBOMMGEKESER
BB B IR R HE R E W E 5 RO E
BREzEBLRR

o Testing the accuracy of information
used by the management and
independent qualified professional
valuer to develop the ECL model on a
sample basis;

e MWMEAREEENBUAERER
HEMEYEREEEREAMA
BR 2z FERENE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTiNUED) BRESTBIEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T GREERETER

Key audit matter

MREITEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEW B 5 R 2 BB A1

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of ECL of trade
receivables (excluding those backed by bills) based on collective
assessment through grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns, after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. In calculating the ECL, the loss rates
are estimated based on comparable probability of default from
internal credit ratings through groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns and recovery rate quoted from
international credit-rating agencies and adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In addition, credit-impaired trade receivables (excluding those
backed by bills) and trade receivables backed by bills are assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit-
impaired trade receivables is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit
losses.

MiEa M BHRAMTAMEE  SEEEEREEETGE B
BEBRUBERANTREBAAEG  KEREZHEBALZ
NEEEFTR - BRI - EREHEL SERNERESER 2B
iR - et RREZER(TEEERREME) 2 AHEE
BESHE NAEEHEEERRER  BAXXRBANEATR
WAL BB O ETETHE - MAl L BCEOMX T E B AE
BUBEEXMEEX(ERERTRBHMSIB) 2 T TRER
ANETHHE - UREREERASIENEAIG AT EERHE
AEMEE - i FEREZRKBEZER(TRIEERE
BERE)REZBRERNEWE SRR EHEEHEEMRR
- EEREZERREGERZERREBEREDNREEZR
HEREHRAREEBRENREZBARKREREREZE
REREHE o

As disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised a provision of an amount of HK$20,289,000 in
respect of impairment losses of trade receivables for the year.
WMFEEMBMRMTMILE - EEFAREWE ZRIRE
EREREBSER20,289,000/87T -

Assessing the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
Group’s ECL model based on our
understanding on the Group’s
customer portfolio and discussion
with management and the
independent qualified professional
valuer including:

ERATEH BEEENZEFAEAEGH
B REEEENBYAERE
EXmEMW - E ESEEMBE
BHEEBEERXNZ FEREBRA
BEMEEE

- the credit quality of the
customers, such as any
experience in default, delay in
payments, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern;
and

- EFNGEEEE - fimEmE
R  EEHNR - R DT
RBFEEES &

- the provision rates, internal
credit ratings, and forward-
looking information.

- BEX RNIEETRKATE
&R -

Evaluating the independent qualified
professional valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity.
FEBLIAEREXMGEM 2T
Hlﬁ * zﬁ&%%ﬂk‘t‘_ °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

142

Hib &R

EAREEANEBENEE - HEER
BENBRRERANZBEL TR
RA B B R R AT BT R -

W

FITHEAMBRENERL L T REEM
ER o AT AEZEEMENERER
FAMERE®
BAERITHRAMBRROEST - A1TH
BEERHEEMER  EiLBRET - &
HpEMEDRESYHRRAATER
AHBRETM T BB FEEREERE
UFFHEERERBBEOBER © BERATT
ERTHIE  WRATRBEMERF
EERERBRML - NTHREREZFE -
BEDE  MTEAEEA®RS -

EENEE

ERAERMGESTH
BRREAENSE

BERREFARAEREBE LGN AEGHE
VBRI HmEER R EE R EIGRDIEK
ERERUEEMA NSRS HRE -
UREBSEERUBNANMERE - UERR
MBI BRI T FEARKEFHERT
BHHEAERRAL -

ERESAVBBRRE  EFAAHF
i BERERELENREN  LHEERB
MTHRBEFBELCEBRNER - ARE
AHBELLERGHER RIEFEFE
# BEREBRJFILEE  HBIEHM
ERNERTR -

BEEAABARTEE BESRENTH
BEBENEE -

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and is therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matters or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Poon Kam Chuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

8 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GelEmRkHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12431 H IFFE

NOTES
FisE
Revenue WA 5
Cost of sales $HE KA
Gross profit EH
Other income HABKA 7
Impairment losses on trade receivables, — FEME 5 EZURERE -
net of reversal BRI 5558 8
Other gains and losses, net Hth )5 Wz R B 18 9
Distribution and selling expenses DHRHEEER
General and administrative expenses HERTHER
Share of result of an associate i - NEIE
Share of result of a joint venture BlhaEERE
Finance costs IR ID RN 10
Profit before tax PR A& A
Income tax expense FERZH "
Profit for the year FEEF 12
Other comprehensive expense Hth2E X% H
Item that may be reclassified HERGEEF 7HE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm2ER
Exchange differences arising on BMERIIEREEZ
translation of foreign operations R
Total comprehensive income (expense) FE#A2EHIZ (X H)
for the year
Profit for the year attributable to: ITATEEEZERT
Owners of the Company: ERRHAA
— Ordinary shareholders —EmRRER
— Perpetual capital securities holders —XBERBFRHAEA
Non-controlling interests iR
Total comprehensive income (expense) AT AL
attributable to: BrERE(ZHE) -
Owners of the Company: ERRHEAA
— Ordinary shareholders — LA R
— Perpetual capital securities holders —KBEXBHFEHEA
Non-controlling interests R ER
Earnings per share — Basic FREMN-EX 16

2023
HK$'000
TERr
24,937,083
(22,434,909)

2,502,174
911,727

(20,289)
8,332
(595,340)
(1,117,844)
1,688
31
(278,120)

1,412,359
(258,396)

1,153,963

(445,346)

708,617

1,050,931
101,677
1,355

1,153,963

605,877
101,677
1,063

708,617

HK cents
Al

24.39

2022
HK$'000
TR
29,170,402
(26,477,906)

2,692,496
908,884

7,529
(3,455)
(784,438)
(1,238,554)
55

(27)
(123,769)

1,458,721
(141,531)

1,317,190

(4,731,419)

(3,414,229)

1,185,236
131,096
858

1,317,190

(3,545,710)
131,096
385

(3,414,229)
HK cents
AL

27.46
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A PRI R R

At 31 December 2023 K2023F 12 H31H

NOTES
BaE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BRERZE 17
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 18
Investment properties wEYZE 19
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEEWE% - KE &

plant and equipment REFNEI® 20
Interest in an associate B N Bl A 21
Interest in a joint venture BEPEER 22
Loan to a joint venture AEPEER 22
Trade and other receivables FEWE S RHEMEEZ R

and prepayments 38 (208 24(a)
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories BE 23
Trade and other receivables and JEWE 5 R H MR

prepayments TET B 24(a)
Amounts due from related companies JE Wk BE & 2 R IR 25
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 26
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 Rk H MR 27
Amounts due to related companies FETBEE R RIFRIA 25
Tax payable FE 18
Lease liabilities HESE 28
Contract liabilities aNEaE 29
Advances drawn on bills BB R 2 BHIR

discounted with recourse ERBEAR 24(b)
Bank borrowings HwITEE 30
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAEE

LIABILITIES

2023
HK$’000
TET

37,788,561
1,240,196
526,099

886,075
102,456

80,786
63,955

268,000

40,956,128

4,921,137
6,700,611

2,296
1,517,149

13,141,193

3,657,943
14,631
99,835
16,710
58,292

551,555
7,037,100

11,436,066

1,705,127

42,661,255

2022
HK$'000
TAT

35,130,428
998,273
518,644

538,333
74,550

81,173
63,397

37,404,798

4,990,108
6,040,325

92,137
1,798,317

12,920,887

3,643,934
11,772
59,149
16,575
60,673

8,500,876

12,292,979

627,908

38,032,706
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e BARRR (E)

At 31 December 2023 K2023F 12 H31H

2023 2022
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
MosE FET FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Bank borrowings HwITEE 30 12,256,122 7,826,554
Lease liabilities HeaE 28 59,376 65,710
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEEE 31 1,578,795 1,533,548
13,894,293 9,425,812
28,766,962 28,606,894

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR H#E
Share capital f&% A 33 107,720 107,739
Reserves EE 27,008,708 26,634,104
27,116,428 26,741,843
Perpetual capital securities KEEBERFESH 34 1,641,084 1,856,664

Equity attributable to owners of the KRAREEA

Company G ER 28,757,512 28,598,507
Non-controlling interests FE 2 IR 2 9,450 8,387

28,766,962 28,606,894

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 272 were F 1462 F 2N BEFiHMNGE AR HKRED
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 /R 2024F3 A8 H &L EE g ##F LIF#E T

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: EUWAHTIWNEERKRESE
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND Z37 {8 LEE MAN BUN Z=3253
CHAIRMAN ZF /& DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEERBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12431 H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRINEDTRAA
Capital Perpetual Non-
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other Retained capital controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total securities interests  equity
iy Gt |

Br  RfER EXGR LABR  ORe GHGE REGRE BRRW 00 ERR% HORER MM
HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$00D  HKFOOD  HKSO0D  HK$000  HKSO00  HK$000  HK§000
Thr T TR TEr  TEn  TET T TEn TR TR A TR

(note ) (noted)  (otedl) (noteii)  (noteiv)
(M) () Onsm)  Omsn) ()
At 1 January 2022 202281718 108,291 30858 1,775,738 12,552 97 (2999)  (12,060) 29,159,705 31,072,182 2,322,814 8,002 33402998

Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - — 118523 1185236  131,0% 858 1,317,190
Buchange differences arising RERNEE

on translation of foreign ErERER

operations - — (4730,946) — — - - —  (4730,946) — (473) (4731419
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ ERE2E

income forthe yer ()4 - -y - - - — 136 BT BI85 (41429
Shares repurchased and cancelld  RIABEE T84 (552) - - - - - — (9340 (9403) - - (%03
Dividends recognised as distributions A% k2

fote 15 B (ki) -k AN (v, I )|
Distrboution paid on perpetual X EEAZERf

capital securtes (note 15) AE(H5) - - - - - - - - — (131,09) - (131,09)
Perpetual capital securities KEEREHER

repurchased - - — — — — 49N — 6491 (466,150) — (401,239
At 31 December 2022 R02E128318 107739 30858 (2955208) 12552 97 (2999) 52,851 29495953 26,741,843 1,856,664 8,387 28,606,894
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - — 1,050,931 1050931 101,677 135 1,153,963
Exchange differences arising RERINER

on trandlation of foreign EX/ERER

operations - — (445,054 — — - - — (445,054 — (292)  (445,346)
Total compreensive (expense) ~ £R%2H

income for the year (F )z - —  (445,054) - - - — 1050931 605877 101,677 1063 708617
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

= A
=]

For the

BE2BX (E)

year ended 31 December 2023 &{ZE2023F 1231 H IFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRARLATEAA
Capital Perpetual Non-
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other Retained capital controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total securities interests  equity
#E Gt |
Bk BORE EXRE LERE  0EE NIRE  HeRE EFEA Nt AR5 FEREE REEE
HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tin  TEr  TRr TR TEn  TEr  TEr TR TR T TEr T
(notey) (notel)  (oteil)  (noteii)  (noteiv)
(Hv) (haH)  (Wsh) Ok (Wil
Shares repurchased and cancelld  RIABEE T84
(notev) GED) (19 - - - - - - (158)  (1547) - - (157)
Dividends recognised as distributions A% k2
(note 15) RE(Hz15) - - - - - - — (249955 (49955) - — (249955
Distrbution paid on perpetual X EEAZEDf
capitl securities (note 15) AR(HE15) - - - - - - - - - (101677) - (101677)
Perpetual capital securities KEEREHER
repurchased (note v) (Ff3Evi) - - - - - — 020 — 020 (215580) - (195370)

At 31 December 2023 20235128318 107720 30858 (3400262 12552 97 (2999 73061 30295401 27116428 1,641,084 9450 28,766,962

Notes: B 5 -

(i) The capital contribution reserve arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in prior (i) HERBAFFEAAEEERSRIERA
years to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s then ultimate holding A—R2BHMBATILEEWBATE
company.

(if) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the  (ii) R ERPIRA A RS - AR RIRRPIE K E
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of NaRDEBFERE DR - EEENDR
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the FREAF25%NERBIEREIELATES ' HED
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The BLEMNBARIRAN —HX AL ZER ES
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. TEDRERFIE -

(iii) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the (i) BRI EEREAREEN2003F9A BEHK
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BEATESHNBRARNKRAmERBEEKNRF R
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the WEEEMBETNROEENZHE -
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv) The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries (iv)y EMFEEHBEFEANEDQTZIEIERRE
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years and the excess arises from WEENRHBARRERSEEAREMRKAE
the repurchase and redemption of perpetual capital securities during both years. MEFEERLD NBLOKEERES -

(v) On 14 December 2023, an aggregate of 757,000 ordinary shares of the Company (v) R2023F 128 14BAHKBO AR AL ERK
were repurchased at an aggregate cost of HK$1,547,000. Subsequently, the 757,0000% + & £ AA1,547,00078 7T BB E
repurchased shares were cancelled on 29 December 2023, and accordingly, the PR BE. 2023612 529 B skl » H it -
Company's share capital was reduced by HK$19,000. RAFRAR 219,000 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

GARMEBDE (E

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12431 H IFFE

(vi)  During the period from 9 June 2023 to 17 November 2023, perpetual capital  (vi) #2023 6 A9H Z£2023411A17HHH -

securities with principal amount of US$27,480,000 (approximately N4 #E%E /27,480,000 7T (#9215,580,000
HK$215,580,000) in aggregate were repurchased and redeemed at a purchase P IT) MK B AR FE 5 A24,971,000E 7T (4
price of US$24,971,000 (approximately HK$195,370,000). Accordingly, the 195,370,000 L) MEEEERL LER - B
perpetual capital securities were reduced by HK$215,580,000 and other reserve It - KBEEAREFH A 215,580,0008 T K& A
was increased by HK$20,210,000. fth {5 #5382 9120,210,0007 7T °
US$213,100,000 (approximately of HK$1,641,084,000) in aggregate principal }‘3@20;3&12)@31 = ﬁjﬁTmiEQZK%%Zﬁﬁ
} o ; . #%8/3213,100,0005 7T (#91,641,084,0007%
amount of the perpetual capital securities remain outstanding as at 31 December ) -

2023.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12431 H IFFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation
Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net gain on disposal of right-of-use assets

Interest income

Net loss (gain) from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments

Net impairment losses (reversal of
impairment losses) on trade receivables

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of a joint venture

Write back of trade and other payables

RExRK
B 5B & F
k-
LUR DN
e
HEME  BEMREZ
B 183 5
REFEREEEZFNE
B A
MTEEZMIARAREZD
FER (k)
FEU B 5 B FOF
Rk L85 18 (R (8 /5 18 1= 388
el NI 3
FEE R EhRFER
BEENE D REMERR

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and other
receivables and prepayments

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from
related companies

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other
payables

Increase in amounts due to
related companies

LEESRHAN
KEHAERE

FERD

FEU S 5 Fo EL At AR K K2
BRI ()R

& o 8 3 1 B R IER A (BB )

R 5 R A AR ()
210
A B8 A AR M

(Payments) proceeds from EETEERT AN
derivative financial instruments FriS 508

Cash generated from operations REEXBEENT S

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax ERHREREMREH
and other taxes paid N H Ath %118

Interest paid EAFE

NET CASH FROM REXBHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES B& 38

2023
HK$"000
TERT

1,412,359

278,120
174,547

4,045

((EALE)]

172

20,289
(1,688)
31
(10,048)

1,858,572
1,257,749

(1,807,280)

89,841

(250,909)

2,859

(172)

1,150,660

(172,123)
(827,165)

151,372

2022
HK$'000
THET

1,458,721

123,769
191,501

23,696
(14,378)
(26,822)
(476)
(7,529)
(55)

27
(137,679)

1,610,775
1,374,167

236,695

(3,255)

1,039,248

1,092

476

4,259,198

(190,426)
(361,261)

3,707,511
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z2023F 12431 H IFFE

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEEW¥ - M= M& (2,902,492) (3,996,145)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEME  WENMKRE
plant and equipment Frftal & (517,586) (719,264)
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEENR (281,588) (26,760)
Capital injection to an associate GENFEE (27,442) -
Loan to a joint venture AETEERER (2,995) (2,167)
Additions to investment properties g EYE (405) (174)
Proceeds on disposal of property, LEWE - BE REE
plant and equipment Fri§ 508 44,156 11,472
Interest received 2 FE 19,193 26,822
Repayment from a joint venture BEDEEN 2,114 11,659
NET CASH USED IN REES A
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEHEE (3.667,045) (4,694,557)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
New bank borrowings raised MERRITIEE 25,036,101 18,890,927
Advances drawn from bills discounted Wi REZBIAEE
with recourses SEER = 835,687 216,141
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITEE (PRSP (16,630,626)
Dividends paid B E (249,955) (755,502)
Repurchase of perpetual capital securities 7k 48 & 7 7 35 0% [0 (195,370) (401,239)
Distribution paid on perpetual capital ERKEEREF DI
securities (101,677) (131,096)
Repayments of lease liabilities HEBEEN (21,856) (39,410)
Payments on repurchase of shares AR S HER RN (1,547) (94,038)
NET CASH FROM BEEE TS
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R&FH 3,236,356 1,055,157

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND & R IR S EEY (R 2 ) Ehn

CASH EQUIVALENTS FH (279,317) 68,111
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EYTHEER

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR HEZEY 1,798,317 1,908,813
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [ERSE > & (1,851) (178,607)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZBASR

THE END OF THE YEAR, HeEEY -

represented by bank balances and cash RITEHRERS 1,517,149 1,798,317
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12431 H 1L F/Z

154

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As at 31 December 2023, Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Dr. Lee Wan Keung, Patrick
directly held 31.54%, 30.25% and 10.80% of ordinary share
capital of the Company, respectively. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information section of

the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries, an associate and
a joint venture are set out in notes 43, 21 and 22, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2023 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.

2.

ER#ET REETE BN
RELZA(EBMBREE
a1l

TS F 2 50 ) A AV ET R AR (S
AERBYBREEL

RAFEE  AEECHRXEABS
BEMAg((EBEFmMAg])
BMEBEER2023F1A1HRABZA
EEFEERE RS AR T FET
RSB BB BREER - UK
RURE P BHRE -

BB B REER RBREL
F175 (220205
108 202252 A
BAERBRELER
FNTRZIEET)

BB ERESH DI ZER
(BFIA)

BEGHENE NN HE-IJHEAL

SCHEN) ZEERAR
BRZELER
B

ERGHENFE 2% EREREE-

SCHEN) XIEZ BRI
ZN

ERGHENFEIRE  SHERIEE

B BREEA

EBHREF2R

(BFTA)

Br N XXPratsh - RNEE BB &
RETBEVBEREEAE REE
RAFRERBEFEZHHRR R
RAR/SHEREEHBRER 2K
BIEEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mE

B3 AR B RE (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8
clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates,
and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no

material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

2.

ER#ET REETE BN
RELZA(BBMBREE
1) e

FERERBETERESR (BFTA)
B it 2B

AEBERAEEERRMNZIER
Ko ZEETBEAHAEERF
EHAETHABRREZNUBHRRZE
BB - SRFBRRAEREE SR
FAETHBARENMERERNIAR
ETFE -REBRAT  —HER
ERRETE BEEIGEK
REIIMBEIR - BAGHERIFEHR
ZERTBRBT G hEt#EE G
BEREEREREEZENRR

AFEERBZEFEIHAKEZE
EMBHMRUBEBEATE -

FEREBETERNEINREBY
BREENEHIREE 258 (BFT
KRB HEZKE 2R

AEBRAFERHEC BRRAZ
FEFA - BEGFERFE 1R
BHXRIBIETAIERSAHERE
BB EZEHE ] —ANMA
B - HEREBMBEREAEM
ER—HEE  SFBERERAMN
FEBHMEFERAYBERNE
EERERBZSEVHERERMEL
HURTE - AIZERTBRERBENX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. BRI REETEBYH

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not

obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.

Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies to
the consolidated financial statements.

RELZA(EBMBREE
1) e

ERERBSTENF1RRERM
B ELNEHLIRE L2958 (BFT
R)ETHEZIRE 2B ()

ZEFEEETIMRBE - BES RFRIAL
TEX BERBBEAXZHEE - &
fEHLBER - SR BERERNA
BEX - R LIFMAEHREAR
5 HFEBEIBEREEN K
REMAGABEKR - W—HER
BERBEFRERGTBRREN A
BMENTSREERNGTHEREH -

FREVHRELUNEHREFR2WE
HEAXEAE ([BB®RE]) TEE
7 LA —HEEBMAAS] A
FHEEAMRRE ARG BERR
BRAGER - BAETHRNER
HEPBREEEBEK - EHR
SEBMEERRRER -

RO G PR 855 1 3T Y AR SR B
BRAREREEALE B4
YEAEERBAMBRRENE
SR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. J*EFHBT?)TF.T&,.IfI R BB

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREEN([BBYKREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTINUED) E'J NE)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet B M B AR ERWEIERTE B
effective B # R 5 2 A
The Group has not early applied the following amendments to AEETEEFEANUNTEEME
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: HAREROKET B BT HEMEE
Al -
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between BT BRELER REFHHEBEN
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint F10RREEES BRAERAZ
Venture' LRIFE28H(BFTA) MBEELEYR
BA
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’ BB B IREER HERERERZ
£16% (BFIA) HEBRE
Amendment to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BERGHENE IR  ABEIERREHK
Non-current and related amendments (BFIA) FRBREBR
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 e Ehidiobicle
(2020y {&77(2020% )
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants BAEHENE 1S  MEZENFERD
(BFIA) B’
Amendments to HKAS 7and ~ Supplier Finance Arrangements? BAHERNETRR HEBRERHE
HKFRS 7 ERUBHREER
ENLACCHEN)|
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability® BEREGHERENR BB
CHEN;
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be ! REEHB 2z &FGMNEERE
determined. o
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. ’ 20241 A1B S 2 B FRIARIFEH
B
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. ? 202551 A1 Bk &AM FEH
AR ©
Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the BRTXFrdEET s BmE
Directors anticipate that the application of all other AN ERTERERAEHMK
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the & 2] &8 B 75 s 5 4 B AT AR 2R
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. BT EUGEaMBERRELAERY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTiNUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
"2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

B3 AR B RE (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments") (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments,
together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020
Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022
Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M mARMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Material accounting policies information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REMBHMROFEHREELER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERAETTHEER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION (conminueD)

3.2 Material accounting policies information 3.2 EREHERER(E)
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control

listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the

other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other

vote holders or other parties; and

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the

Company and to the non-controlling interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE P BRRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION (conminuep)

3.2 Material accounting policies information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the

relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 AR B RE (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #; Z2023F 12 H31HIFF/E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION (conminuep)

3.2 Material accounting policies information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle
of goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Revenue from sale of packaging paper, pulp and tissue
paper is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of goo